Data Compilation, Synthesis, and Calculations Used for Organic-Carbon Storage and Inventory Estimates for Mineral Soils of the Mississippi River Basin

By Gary R. Buell and Helaine W. Markewich

Chapter A of **Soil-Carbon Storage and Inventory for the Continental United States**

Edited by Helaine W. Markewich

Professional Paper 1686–A

U.S. Department of the Interior U.S. Geological Survey

U.S. Department of the Interior

Gale A. Norton, Secretary

U.S. Geological Survey

Charles G. Groat, Director

U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia: 2004

For more information about the USGS and its products: Telephone: 1-888-ASK-USGS World Wide Web: http://www.usgs.gov/

Any use of trade, product, or firm names in this publication is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government.

Although this report is in the public domain, permission must be secured from the individual copyright owners to reproduce any copyrighted materials contained within this report.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Buell, Gary R.

Data compilation, synthesis, and calculations used for organic-carbon storage and inventory estimates for mineral soils of the Mississippi River Basin / by Gary R. Buell and Helaine W. Markewich.

p. cm. — (U.S. Geological professional paper ; 1686–A)

Includes bibliographic references.

1. Soils—Carbon content—Mississippi River Watershed—Statistical methods. 2. Carbon cycle (Biogeochemistry)— Mississippi River Watershed—Statistical methods. 3. Carbon sequestration—Mississippi River Watershed—Statistical methods. I. Markewich, Helaine W. II. Title. III. Series.

S592.6.C35B84 2003

631.4'17—dc22

2004000502

Contents

Abstract A	.1
Introduction	1
Scope and Objectives	1
Approach	2
Methods	3
Data Compilation	3
Data Synthesis	4
Requirements for Pedon Data	4
Data Linkage Models	5
Comparability of MUIR and SIR Data with Pedon Data1	6
Calculations1	6
SOC Storage (Mass Per Unit Area)1	6
SOC Inventory (Mass Per Total Area)2	0
Estimation of Missing Layer/Horizon Data2	1
Bulk Density	2
Empirical Soil Texture Class	6
Soil Horizon Groupings2	6
Interpolation of Missing Data2	6
Results and Discussion	7
SOC Storage and Inventory for the MRB2	7
Geographic Patterns in SOC Storage2	7
STATSGO/SSURGO Regional Comparisons2	8
Minnesota	1
North Carolina	3
Factors Affecting SOC Estimation	5
Suitability of Soil-Carbon Data for SOC Assessment	9
Map Scale	9
Geographic and Temporal Coverage3	9
Soil Taxonomy	0
Conclusions	0
References Cited	2

Figures

1.	Map showing U.S. Geological Survey hydrologic regions of the Mississippi River Basin	A2
6.	Site-specific soil pedon data sets for:	
2.	Dillsboro soil, Yancey County, North Carolina	. 6
3.	Unnamed soil in Carbon County, Montana	8
4.	Cathedral or Cathedral-like soil, Fremont County, Colorado	10
5.	Memphis soil, Crittenden County, southwestern Kentucky	12
	1. 6. 2. 3. 4.	 Map showing U.S. Geological Survey hydrologic regions of the Mississippi River Basin, Site-specific soil pedon data sets for: Dillsboro soil, Yancey County, North Carolina

6.	Gepp soil, Randolph County, Arkansas	14
7.	Schematic showing a representative pedon profile for a soil series	17
8.	Maps showing component area-weighted mean coarse-fragment volume for STATSGO and SSURGO map units, Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina	18
9.	Schematic showing the relation between STATSGO map units and STATSGO map-unit components for Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina	19
10.	Percentage of rock outcrop in STATSGO and SSURGO map units, Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina	21
11.	Relations among soil bulk density, organic carbon, and clay for selected A and E horizons of soils in the Mississippi River Basin	25
12–17.	Soil organic carbon storage estimates for mineral soils in:	
	12. Mississippi River Basin, site-specific data linked to STATSGO map units	28
	13. Nicollet, Renville, and Sibley Counties, Minnesota, site-specific data linked to STATSGO map units	32
	14. Nicollet, Renville, and Sibley Counties, Minnesota, site-specific data linked to SSURGO map units	33
	15. Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina, site-specific data linked to STATSGO map units	34
	16. Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina, site-specific data linked to SSURGO map units	35
	17. Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina, site-specific data linked to SSURGO map units, calculated by two methods	37
18.	Component area-weighted mean depth to bedrock for STATSGO and SSURGO map units, Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina	38
19.	Geographic extent of soil orders based on SSURGO taxonomy—Nicollet, Renville, and Sibley Counties, Minnesota, and Mitchell and Yancey	
	Counties, North Carolina	41

Tables

1.	Median bulk densities of mineral soils at:	
	<i>A.</i> 1/3-bar tension moisture content for the standard U.S. Department of Agriculture soil texture classes by soil horizon	A23
	<i>B.</i> Oven-dry moisture content for the standard U.S. Department of Agriculture soil texture classes by soil horizon	24
2.	U.S. Department of Agriculture STATSGO map units with and without site-specific, series-level soil organic carbon data for the U.S. Geological Survey hydrologic regions in the Mississippi River Basin	29
3–4.	 Soil organic carbon storage and inventory for the surface meter of mineral soil for: U.S. Geological Survey hydrologic regions and region subbasins in the Mississippi River Basin 	30
	4. Selected county areas of the Mississippi River Basin	36
	,	

Conversion Factors and Datums

Multiply	Ву	To obtain
	Length	
inch (in.)	2.54	centimeter (cm)
foot (ft)	0.3048	meter (m)
mile (mi)	1.609340	kilometer (km)
	Area	
square foot (ft ²)	0.0929	square meter (m ²)
square mile (mi ²)	2.58999	square kilometer (km ²)
	Mass	
pound, avoirdupois (lb)	453.59237	gram (g)
pound, avoirdupois (lb)	0.4536	kilogram (kg)
	Pressure	
pound per square foot (lb/ft ²)	47.9	pascal (Pa)
bar	100,000	pascal (Pa)
bar	100	kilopascal (kPa)
bar	0.1	megapascal (MPa)
	Temperature	
degrees Fahrenheit (°F)	5/9 (°F – 32)	degrees Celsius (°C)
	Concentration	
Percent	10	grams per kilogram (g/kg)

Vertical coordinate information is referenced to the insert datum name (and abbreviation) here for instance, "North American Vertical Datum of 1988 (NAVD 88)."

Horizontal coordinate information is referenced to the insert datum name (and abbreviation) here for instance, "North American Datum of 1983 (NAD 83)."

Altitude, as used in this report, refers to distance above the vertical datum.

Data Compilation, Synthesis, and Calculations Used for Organic-Carbon Storage and Inventory Estimates for Mineral Soils of the Mississippi River Basin

By Gary R. Buell and Helaine W. Markewich

Abstract

U.S. Geological Survey investigations of environmental controls on carbon cycling in soils and sediments of the Mississippi River Basin (MRB), an area of 3.3 x 10⁶ square kilometers (km²), have produced an assessment tool for estimating the storage and inventory of soil organic carbon (SOC) by using soil-characterization data from Federal, State, academic, and literature sources. The methodology is based on the linkage of site-specific SOC data (pedon data) to the soil-association map units of the U.S. Department of Agriculture State Soil Geographic (STATSGO) and Soil Survey Geographic (SSURGO) digital soil databases in a geographic information system. The collective pedon database assembled from individual sources presently contains 7,321 pedon records representing 2,581 soil series. SOC storage, in kilograms per square meter (kg/m²), is calculated for each pedon at standard depth intervals from 0 to 10, 10 to 20, 20 to 50, and 50 to 100 centimeters. The site-specific storage estimates are then regionalized to produce national-scale (STATSGO) and county-scale (SSURGO) maps of SOC to a specified depth. Based on this methodology, the mean SOC storage for the top meter of mineral soil in the MRB is approximately 10 kg/m², and the total inventory is approximately 32.3 Pg (1 petagram = 10^9 metric tons). This inventory is from 2.5 to 3 percent of the estimated global mineral SOC pool.

Introduction

Humankind has changed the global carbon cycle by burning fossil fuels and by converting "native" photosynthetic production into "managed" forestry and agriculture for a significant portion of the Earth's surface. Human activity has also transformed much of the land surface itself by converting large areas for human use through urban, suburban, and industrial development. These activities have fundamentally altered the interactions between terrestrial and atmospheric carbon and the sediment/nutrient transport paths across the land surface to the oceans. Understanding these changes and how they affect the carbon cycle are essential to understanding many global environmental problems, particularly the relations between global climate and atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO_2). What we understand about the interactions among human activities, CO_2 cycling, and climate can improve the decisions that result from global environmental policy deliberations.

Presently, climate scientists generally agree that some global warming and changes in rainfall patterns will result from the enhanced greenhouse effect of increasing atmospheric CO₂ levels (IPCC, 1995, 2001). Atmospheric warming and changes in precipitation patterns directly and immediately affect the Earth's surface, particularly the soils, which constitute the largest carbon reservoir on the land surface. Blecker and others (1997) presented pedologic and geomorphic evidence for the link between Holocene climate variation, soil formation, and carbon sequestration in the shortgrass steppe soils of northeastern Colorado. U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) investigations of the environmental controls on carbon in soils and sediments of the Mississippi River Basin (MRB) (fig. 1) is a contribution toward understanding the global significance of human influences on terrestrial carbon cycling. Obtaining accurate values for present-day soil organic carbon (SOC) storage and inventory in the MRB is fundamental to this endeavor.

Scope and Objectives

The Mississippi River is the largest river in North America. Its drainage basin encompasses a 3.3×10^6 km² area with large variations in climate, vegetation, land use, and agriculture. The MRB is well studied and includes areas that typify other regions of the Earth's surface that have undergone human development. By examining a variety of spatial scales, including the whole MRB, we can identify those aspects of environmental change that have major effects on carbon, nutrient, and sediment cycles.

Data from several years of investigations in the MRB have allowed us to make progress toward the following objectives: (1) "map" carbon at national, regional, and local scales; (2) calculate present carbon storage at the land surface; (3) identify those areas with the greatest potential to sequester



Figure 1. U.S. Geological Survey hydrologic regions (outlined in black, Seaber and others, 1994) of the Mississippi River Basin (MRB) (shown in blue) in the United States. MRB hydrologic regions are numbered: 05, Ohio; 06, Tennessee; 07, Upper Mississippi; 08, Lower Mississippi; 10, Missouri; and 11, Arkansas-White-Red. Soil organic carbon (SOC) storage and inventory estimates for the hydrologic regions are given in table 3. See table 4 for the SOC storage estimates for counties (mapped areas of counties shown in gray) in these hydrologic regions.

carbon; and (4) show that many of these areas are coincident with lands targeted by local, State, and Federal agencies for watershed/well-head protection, floodplain/wetland restoration/protection, cropland reserve programs, mammal and bird migration route connection, and urban/suburban greenspace-corridor creation/restoration/connection.

For the MRB, the USGS has begun the following tasks:

- Compilation and synthesis of site-specific data needed to estimate carbon storage and inventory in the soils, reservoir sediment, wetlands, and lakes of the continental United States.
- Characterization of present-day carbon storage by landscape feature and environment.
- Prediction of potential carbon storage for land areas identified as possible reserves for carbon sequestration.

This report presents the approach, methods, and preliminary conclusions for these ongoing efforts directed at obtaining accurate estimates of SOC storage (mass per unit area) and inventory (mass per total area) for the MRB.

Approach

The first step in completing the tasks listed in the previous section is to estimate the present terrestrial SOC inventory and, thus, provide a baseline for measurement of net changes in SOC inventory related to future changes in land use and climate. The most readily available method for estimation of SOC storage and inventory for the surface meter of any land area in the United States is to use either of two U.S. Department of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service (USDA-NRCS) geographic databases (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2001a,b)-the State Soil Geographic (STATSGO, 1:250,000) database or the Soil Survey Geographic (SSURGO, 1:24,000) database. These databases are digital soil maps, available within a geographic information system (GIS), which can be used to describe, both geographically and statistically, many soil properties at map scales ranging from national (STATSGO) to county (SSURGO). The STATSGO/SSURGO soil map units are georeferenced polygons comprised of either 1-21 STATSGO or 1-3 SSURGO map-unit components, which are keyed to soil series, the lowest taxonomic classification of a soil. Each map-unit component is assigned a

percentage of the total map-unit area. Soil series comprising STATSGO map-unit components are characterized by soilattribute and related ancillary data in the USDA-NRCS Soil Interpretations Record (SIR) database (available only as part of STATSGO). SSURGO map-unit components are characterized by a more detailed version of SIR, the USDA-NRCS Map Unit Interpretations Record (MUIR) database (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2001c). SIR and MUIR are aggregate databases that include variables such as organic matter (from which SOC is calculated), texture, slope, water content, and vegetative cover that describe map-unit components (soil series). Thus, soil properties (such as SOC) can be mapped in a variety of ways by linking series-level soils data to the soil map unit.

Although SIR and MUIR are similar, neither database adequately captures the series-level spatial variability in soil properties that can occur both geographically and with depth in the soil profile. Soil series described in SIR/MUIR generally are represented by five or fewer data records with ranges of values that provide an "average" characterization of the soil. Also, because the SIR and MUIR databases are layer-based rather than horizon-based, some, if not much, of the variation in soil properties with depth is not accurately represented.

Compilation, synthesis, and linkage of site-specific soil data to STATSGO/SSURGO map units provide an empirical alternative to SIR/MUIR-based soil maps. This approach not only provides a greater "ground-truth" component to the analysis but also, where data are sufficient, better captures the spatial variability of many soil properties at the series level. Site-specific soil databases potentially contain many pedon records for a given series and, thus, can provide better definition of the underlying distributions of soil physical and chemical properties. Site-specific data records are hereafter referred to in this report as pedon records or pedon data because the field description and laboratory characterization of the soil samples submitted to the laboratory are based on sampling the soil pedon. The pedon is the smallest physical sampling unit of a soil (generally from 1 to 10 square meters in area and as deep as the soil is formed) required to describe the variability in the properties of that soil at a specific location (Soil Survey Staff, 1999). Pedons generally are sampled by horizon rather than by arbitrary depth increments because soil horizonization provides a physical model for the physical and chemical development of the soil. Thus, the linkage of pedon data to STATSGO/SSURGO map units adds a "degree of confidence" to SOC storage and inventory estimates based on these data.

In this study, estimates of SOC storage and inventory for the MRB and for selected county-level areas within the MRB were calculated by using (1) SIR data linked to STATSGO map units, (2) MUIR data linked to SSURGO map units, (3) pedon data linked to STATSGO map units, and (4) pedon data linked to SSURGO map units. Differences in the SOC estimates based on these approaches are discussed within the context of map scale, map-unit composition and areal representation by component soil series, and series-level representation by data.

Methods

Data Compilation

A composite Site-Specific Soil-Carbon (S3C) database, compiled for this study, includes 7,321 soil pedon records obtained from the following sources: (1) USDA-NRCS National Soil Survey Center, Soil Survey Laboratory Characterization (NSSC) database (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2001d); (2) State databases for Arkansas (E.M. Rutledge, University of Arkansas, Fayetteville, Arkansas, unpub. data, received 2001), Illinois (University of Illinois, 2001), and Louisiana (Schumacher and others, 1988); (3) small published databases (see the included References Cited section); and (4) several small unpublished databases provided by individual researchers. Additions and corrections to the S3C database are being made on a frequent basis, which allows continual refinement of the SOC storage and inventory estimates.

Upon receipt, data are "standardized" to a consistent format needed for SOC calculations and interpretive analysis. Changes through time in the conventions used for describing soil profiles (Soil Survey Staff, 1951, 1962, 1975, 1986, 1998; Schoeneberger and others, 1998) have produced coding inconsistencies that must be reconciled prior to data analysis. Examples include revisions to soil-horizon nomenclature, measurement of horizon depth relative to the land surface, and designation of lithologic discontinuities in the soil profile. For both organic and mineral soils, revisions made to the pedon data include, but are not restricted to, the following:

- If pedons do not have assigned latitude and longitude coordinates, sampling locations are georeferenced if there are sufficient locational data available to determine the coordinates. In some cases, the locational data are "exact" in the sense that, with the description given, a specific map location can be determined. Otherwise, there may be township-range-section data available; in which case, an approximate location is assigned based on the centroid of the section or, if given, a smaller quadrant within a section.
- 2. The top of the A horizon, or mineral surface, is set to the zero-centimeter depth (zero datum) with all depths for both mineral and organic horizons positively offset from this datum. This convention was used until 1993, when the "soil surface" was redefined as the top boundary of the first layer that can support plant growth (Schoeneberger and others, 1998), which may include partially decomposed surface organic horizons (Oe and Oa horizons). The pre-1993 convention was chosen for computational convenience and to support the ecologically based partitioning of SOC into organic and mineral compartments. For organic soils, however, the zero datum is set to the land surface, and, if necessary, horizon depths are adjusted accordingly.

A4 Soil-Carbon Storage and Inventory for the Continental United States

- 3. Older horizon nomenclature is converted to currentuse nomenclature (Schoeneberger and others, 1998). Examples include the G horizon/layer designation (Soil Survey Staff, 1951) that was changed to a subscript g and applied to the A, B, or C horizon based on position in the profile; the A2 horizon changed to an E horizon; and Roman-numeral prefixes that designate lithologic discontinuities changed to Arabic-numeral prefixes.
- 4. Current-use horizon designations (Schoeneberger and others, 1998) are mapped to more general horizon groups, primarily on the basis of the master and transitional horizon designations. For example, an Ag1 horizon (A horizon, strong gley, first subdivision) and an A3 horizon (A horizon, third subdivision) would be assigned to the A-horizon group; a Bg3 horizon (B horizon, strong gley, third subdivision) and a 2Bk3 (B horizon with pedogenic accumulation of carbonate developed in the second layer of contrasting material, third subdivision) would be assigned to the B-horizon group. Exceptions to this rule include soil horizons with either cemented or fragipan features. In either of these cases, all horizons with a cemented feature are mapped to "m," and all horizons with a fragipan feature are mapped to "x." The generalized horizon groups are used to aggregate the pedon data for statistical analysis of soil properties that affect SOC such as particle size and bulk density.
- 5. Either "described as" or "correlated as" soil-series name is assigned to each pedon. If a soil is classed to series when the field description is done, then the "described as" name may later be reviewed and verified during laboratory characterization, and a "correlated as" name assigned. Figure 2 provides an example of this revision for a loam in Yancey County, western North Carolina, that was described and sampled as a Unison series soil and then revised to the Dillsboro series. Where given, correlated series names are used; otherwise, the described name is used.

If the pedon has no series designated, the source of the data is checked to see if the series name was included in a later data revision. Some pedon records are sent to the appropriate State soil scientist to request series classification. However, if no series name is available, every attempt is made to obtain the most detailed taxonomic classification possible. An example of pedon data with no taxonomy is the paleoclimatic/ chronosequence study by Reheis (1987) where 35 pedons were sampled along transects in granitic alluvium representing a transition from mountain-front to basin soils in Carbon County, Montana (data for pedon RC-24 shown in fig. 3). These pedons were georeferenced, located in the Carbon County soil survey (Parker and others, 1975), and then each assigned a soil-series name based on comparison of the pedon

data with representative data for that series in the detailed soil map units.

6. Organic-matter (weight percent) and total-carbon (weight percent) values are converted to organic-carbon (weight percent) values, with pH being considered in the total-carbon to organic-carbon conversion. Organic matter is converted to equivalent organic-carbon content by multiplying the percent organic matter by 0.58. Although the carbon content of organic matter varies with the source of plant litter and woody debris, 0.58 is a generally accepted "average" value used in this conversion (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 1996; Bowman and Petersen, 1996).

The organic-matter/organic-carbon data used in this paper are based on either the acid-dichromate wet oxidation-reduction (Walkley-Black method; Allison, 1965) or dry-combustion methods (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 1996). The loss-on-ignition (LOI) method, commonly applied to organic soils and freshwater and marine sediments (Bengtsson and Enell, 1986), was not used for analysis of the mineral-soil data presented in this report. Though few studies have been done that relate LOI data to results obtained by wet or dry-combustion techniques, Bengtsson and Enell (1986) report that organic carbon accounts for approximately 40 percent of the actual weight lost on ignition. For noncalcareous soils (pH <7.7; Bowman and Petersen, 1996), it is assumed that there is negligible carbonate and that results reported as "total carbon" are equivalent to "total organic carbon." If the SOC storage calculation methods presented in this paper were applied to land areas with calcareous soils, the total-inorganic-carbon content of the soil sample (determined as calcium carbonate, U.S. Department of Agriculture, 1996) would need to be subtracted from the total-carbon content to obtain total organic carbon by difference.

7. The pedon data are checked for errors, screened for statistical outliers, and corrections are then applied before analysis. Some of the more common errors include data-entry mistakes in horizon depths, reversal of latitude and longitude coordinates, misspellings of soil-series names, and misplaced decimal points.

Data Synthesis

Requirements for Pedon Data

The first decisions made in this study relate to database design and use—how to get the best use of the data to meet the study objectives. The list of conceptual or "philosophical" questions includes:

- What depth intervals should be used for SOC storage computations?
- How reliable are the data and what criteria have to be met for the data to be used?
- Should a data set for a pedon be used if the data are incomplete? If so, then what values should be used for the missing data, and how are these values determined? Figures 2–6 give examples of pedon data sets that have varying quantities of missing data that must be estimated or interpolated if these pedons are to be used for SOC storage calculations.
- How representative are the data? For example, should data for a map unit component (soil series) be used if the number of pedons for which data are available is less than some minimum number? If the data are used, then in what way—mean, median, mode, and so on?
- How can data for pedons that are not classed to series be used? These pedons generally are classed to family, but occasionally only to a higher taxonomic level such as subgroup, great group, suborder, or order.
- How can pedon data that are layer-based rather than horizon-based be used in the analysis?
- What is there to learn about SOC distribution from sitespecific data linked to SSURGO that differs from the results of linking site-specific data to STATSGO? Are there "scale" effects? To what extent are scale effects related to differences in map-unit composition?

The answers to these and other questions have largely determined the direction of this study and continue to do so as more data are acquired.

Data Linkage Models

This study used a mapping approach to quantify SOC storage (mass per unit area) and inventory (mass per total area) for the MRB and for selected county areas within the MRB (fig. 1). The storage/inventory estimates are based on linking the STATSGO/SSURGO map units with (1) the aggregate soils data provided with STATSGO/SSURGO in the SIR/ MUIR databases and (2) the S3C pedon data. The aggregatedata linkage is straightforward and is based on the relational table design of the STATSGO and SSURGO databases. Each map unit has a set of associated data tables in the aggregate database that can be linked to the map unit, a map-unit component, or a depth layer within a map-unit component. There is a one-to-one correspondence between a map-unit component and the associated component data and between the depth layers of a map-unit component and the associated layer data. This method is comparable to that used by Bliss and others (1995) to develop a SOC inventory for the United States. To facilitate comparisons between SOC estimates based on aggregate data with those based on pedon data, each map-unit component with its associated layer records is computationally treated as a pseudo pedon. SOC storage values are first calculated for standardized depth intervals from 0 to 10 centimeters (cm), 10 to 20 cm, 20 to 50 cm, and 50 to 100 cm for both pseudo pedons (SIR and MUIR databases) and actual pedons (S3C database) where the required data are available. The data required for calculation of SOC storage include the volume occupied by the intact soil, soil bulk density (either 1/3-bar or oven-dry), and weight percent of either organic matter, organic carbon, or total carbon.

Because the STATSGO/SSURGO map-unit components generally are based on soil series, the simplest and most direct method for linking S3C-derived SOC data to the map units is by soil series. The pedon-data linkage differs slightly from the aggregate-data linkage in that selected percentiles of SOC distributions by soil series are used for all map-unit components of a given series. The 50th percentile was chosen for this study to accommodate the series-level bias in available pedon data. Only 5 percent of the 2,500+ soil series for which pedon data are available is represented by 10 or more pedons, and 25 percent of the series are represented by only one pedon. If there were sufficient pedon data available to accurately describe the series-level variability in soil properties for the map area of interest, then other percentiles could be chosen. The interpretation of results based on the linkage of different percentiles is discussed in some detail later in this report.

Total SOC storage values for each map-unit are then calculated as the area-weighted component sums. For map units with partial representation by data, the summed SOC storage values are divided by the fraction of the map unit represented by data. This adjustment assumes that the "unsampled" area of the map unit is similar to the "sampled" area. SOC inventories are then calculated for each map area (for example, the MRB or selected county areas) by applying the map-unit SOC storage values to the total map-unit areas and then summing the map-unit inventories for all of the map units in the map area. For map areas with "no-data" map units, the summed SOC inventory values are divided by the fraction of the map area represented by map units with at least partial data representation. This adjustment for the larger map area is the same adjustment that is made for individual map units with the assumption that the unsampled area has a similar SOC composition to that of the sampled area.

Map units with no-data representation are not mapped and appear blank in the accompanying maps. Also, map units with a component area-weighted mean depth to bedrock less than the deepest interval midpoint are not mapped. For example, if SOC were being mapped to a depth of 1 meter, map units with a mean depth to bedrock less than 75 cm (midpoint from 50 to 100 cm) are not mapped and would appear blank. If SOC were being mapped to a 0.5-meter depth, the cutoff depth would be 35 cm (midpoint from 20 to 50 cm).

Ц р z 0 н Ð Ц N н പ ы H υ Д പ്പ Ц Η υ ⊳ പ്പ Ц Σ н പ്പ പ (P

A

Ð

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE PCT OF -) (-COARSE FRACTIONS (MM) -) (>2MM) 0.11 0.09 0.11 0.10 0.15 WHOLE SOIL 0.11 0.11 0.15 NATURAL RESOURCES CONSERVATION SERVICE SOIL WHOLE -20-- -) WRD 4C1 CM/CM ΕM TR TR ччм 12 48 ł .1-24.3 21.5 10.4 10.3 <75MM(3B1)-> BAR ^ | | 17.3 17.8 21.9 21.8 21.2 -19-16 26 4B2a 14 14 15 15 23 65 78 75 15 ו ו EXTR TOTAL (- - DITH-CIT - -) (RATIO/CLAY) (ATTERBERG) (- BULK DENSITY -) COLE (- - -WATER CONTENT LINCOLN, NEBRASKA 68508-3866 -PCT OF <2MM NATIONAL SOIL SURVEY CENTER ı 25.6 25.6 32.9 29.6 27.5 33.0 29.3 21.7 BAR 1/34B1c -18-2V 12 -75 20 - WEIGHT ľ SURVEY LABORATORY 1/104B1cBAR -17--20 PCT OF ഹ ТК ТТК ТТК ТТК 1 1 2 6 2 6 Print Date: 01/11/02 1 1 FIELD -16-SOIL MOIST ı ı V ں ۱ 4B42 ı V TR TR ł Ч TR Ч С 10 ī 0.6 5.1 1.5 2.1 6.9 CM/CM -15-^ I 1.3 14.0 OVEN WHOLE $\overset{\mathsf{O}}{\overset{\mathsf{I}}{\overset{\mathsf{I}}}}$ 0.055 0.020 0.021 0.038 0.042 0.033 0.032 0.009 ч 4D1 Ŋ . SOIL ı. ^ | | 1.55 1.53 1.56 1.45 1.45 -14-1.8 1.6 1.9 3.4 2.3 5.3 17.0 15.0 4A1h 1.64 1.47 1.50 ı DRY ч. Ч. ı. 1/3ı - SAND -3.8 3.3 3.3 3.3 4.1 5.2 8.0 8.0 BAR -.50 20.8 16.4 4A1d 1.34 1.45 1.39 1.36 1.43 -13-1.32 1.47 1.32 .25 G/CC ı. FIELD MOIST 7.6 8.5 6.9 7.7 7.3 7.3 -.25 8.4 15.7 -12-11.9 4A3a I ı ı v .10 ī -.10 6.8 7.0 6.2 7.1 7.9 8.2 8.2 7.8 ī -11თ <0.4MM 19 26 23 .05 ı ЪI 4F FINE COARSE VF OF <2MM (3A1) -- LIMITS - -) (- -CLAY- -) (- -SILT- -) (-HUMIC HAPLUDULT MESIC HUMIC HAPLUDULT -.05 9.7 9.5 6.7 8.1 7.1 7.1 7.1 7.5 6.6 -10-42 5 2 50 32 . 02 E PCT 4F1 -.02 - - 6 -.002 26.2 26.6 17.6 16.4 16.6 17.8 17.1 BAR 8D1 7.5 0.41 0.46 0.46 0.50 0.55 ы. 0.40 0.41 0.38 58 15 10. 0 CO3 .002 PCT 0.39 0.24 0.22 0.23 0.23 0.22 0.26 - 8 -0.40 0.23 CEC 8D1 5 MESIC ı FINE 0.1 0.1 TR TR ---16.5 17.7 24.1 19.7 6D2a ı 29.5 23.8 15.3 6.8 .0002 7.8 븝 NW ı EXTRACTABLE VAR.; CLAYEY, MIXED, OF <2MM VAR.; CLAYEY, MIXED, (CP87NC264) MOUNTIAN SOILS ı SAND 32.0 6G7a 0.7 0.7 0.8 0.8 0.6 0.6 0.3 NORTH CAROLINA) 65.1 - - 9 -21.3 20.8 18.6 22.1 30.5 22.6 68.2 .05 <u>م</u> AL SAMPLES 87P 4529- 4537 ı SILT .002 -.05 35.9 36.1 24.3 24.5 24.9 24.6 12.8 17.1 6C2b 22.7 3.6 4.5 3.7 3.7 3.3 1.6 1.6 1.4 - 2 - -- TOTAL 23.7 י ו < PERCENT</p> 면 ı 1B1A, 2A1, 2B CLAY .002 42.8 43.1 53.4 45.8 52.5 43.4 19.0 6R3a ı 57.1 17.8 -4----븝 ı V Ŋ (YANCEY COUNTY, PPM - 3 - д 6S3 HORIZON BT4 BT5 PROJECT 87P 174, - 2 - -AP1 AP2 BT1 ВТ2 ВТ3 TOTAL 6B3a <2MM 87P 823, 0.09 0.06 GENERAL METHODS S B 0.19 0.17 0.10 DILLSBORO z NOSINU 6A1c ORGN 1.70 0.13 - 1 -DEPTH 1.49 0.31 0.13 0.16 0.06 0.27 16 30 64 99 99-120 120-145 145-175 175-190 190-220 PCT (CM) υ 16-30-64-S87NC-199-001 6 AS: TO: PEDON 87P4534S 87P4535S 87P4536S 87P4537S 87P4529S 87P4530S 87P4531S 87P4532S 87P4533S 0- 16 16- 30 30- 64 64- 99 99-120 SAMPLED REVISED 120-145 145-175 175-190 190-220 SAMPLE DEPTH (CM) 1 1 1 NO. SSL

http://ssidata.nrcs.usda.gov/). Dillsboro soils are deep and very well drained and occur on colluvial and alluvial fans and terraces in the southern Appalachian Figure 2. Site-specific soil pedon data that provide a relatively complete (A) characterization and (B) field description for a Dillsboro soil (sampled as Unison and revised to Dillsboro based on laboratory data), Yancey County, North Carolina (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2001d, accessed January 11, 2002, at URL Mountains. Data required for soil organic carbon calculation are shown in red type. (For explanation of abbreviations and laboratory method codes, see Soil Survey Staff, 1995, 1996.)

										(A)	Conti	nued									
	•HN -)	40AC E3	TRACT	ABLE Bi	ASES -) ACID-	· EXTR)	- CEC -	(- -	AL -	BASE S.	AT- CO	13 AS F	RES.	COND. (-	1	Hd	-		
	CA	MG	NA	М	SUM	ΤTΥ	AL	SUM	NH4 -	BASES	SAT	SUM	NH4 C	ACO3 C	SMHC	SOHIMIM	KCL CA	CL2 H	20		
DEPTH	5B5a	5B5a	5B5a	5B5a	BASES			CATS	OAC	+ AL			OAC <	2MM	/ CM	/CM	. NI	MIO			
(CM)	6N2e	602d	6P2b	6Q2b		6H5a	6G9b	5A3a	5A8b	5A3b	5G1	5C3	5C1 6	E19 6	3E1	8 18	C1g 8(Clf 8	C1f		
	ı ı V	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	- MEQ	/ 100 6	 	1 1 1	1 1 1	^ 	ı ı ı V	PCT	1 1 1	A I				1:2 1	:1		
0- 16	8.3	3.2	I I	1.4	12.9	13.5		26.4	17.0			49	76				5.0	5.6	6.0		
16- 30	8.7	3.6	TR	1.1	13.4	12.2		25.6	16.9			52	79				5.3	5.9	5.4		
30- 64	5.4	2.3	TR	0.3	8.0	13.6	0.8	21.6	13.3	8.8	σ	37	60				4.3	4.8	5.2		
64-99	2.3	1.1	TR	0.2	3.6	11.7	1.7	15.3	12.7	5.3	32	24	28				4.1	4.4	1.6		
99-120	1.6	0.9	TR	0.2	2.7	14.4	1.9	17.1	10.2	4.6	41	16	26				4.0	4.3	1.6		
120-145	1.7	1.4	TR	0.2	3.3	14.3	2.0	17.6	12.0	5.3	38	19	27	UI	9500	0.11	4.0	4.3	1.6		
145-175	1.6	1.3	TR	0.2	3.1	10.2	1.8	13.3	10.6	4.9	37	23	29				4.0	4.4	1.8		
175-190	0.7	0.6	1	0.1	1.4	5.7	0.4	7.1	4.2	1.8	22	20	33				4.3	4.6	1.9		
190-220	1.3	0.6	1	0.2	2.1	7.2	-	9.3	4.7			23	45				4.7	5.1	5.3		
						(B	I N N 1	RA	ТΖ	 Д	E D O I	D	С Ю Е	К I Р	N O I L						
padon. IIni	c c c	NCCT	Nachon N	. rodm.il	100L8 .	с. с.	יט ריטט	A TRATT	redmin	CN-Las	-199-00	р Г		0+0.0	CU/ L L/ LC	Togation	Ducy .	100 110	d tri MOrth	.eu;[vve)	
from Bald 082-25-30-	Creek W Pl	School hysiogr	.3 mi aphy:	W ON I terrac	HW 19E	to a F in int	sut. gr.	avel di tain ba	riveway asin	, S. at Geomoi	cross E rphic P	ald Cr ositio	eek 50	o ft t Micr	corelief: 1	upper thi	tude: rd S	er cou 35-54- lope:	15-N Lo 15-N Lo 1% plane n	carotina, ngitude: orth facing	ŋ
Air Temper	ature:	i : unk	umrs 01	1: 19 V	Vin: 1	±≇/ cill Wate	r Table	e Deptl	יי קיי אפר קיי אפר	Permei	ability	T: Mode	rately	slow	Drainae	ge: Well	draine	Ч Ч	and Use: H	orticultura	al
Land St mixed-igné Argillic	conines sous & 1 Desc:	s: metamo ribed E	Eros: phic n y: R.	lon or lateri; Ransoi	Depos al , 1, E. I	ution: Classif Hayhurs	Modera ication t and 1	te I : Clayé B. Bras	kunoff: sy, mix sher S	slow ted, mes ample I	rart sic Hum Date: 0	icte s nic Hap 9/87	ludult	ntrol Dia	section:L agnostic Ho	s to 63 c orizons:	o a to	arent 3 cm O	Material: chric, 33	alluvium fr to 185 cm	L om
Ap1 subangular	- 0 to : block <u></u>	16 cr Y; frië	n; dark ible, s	t brown light	n (7.5 [.] ly sti	YR 3/4) cky, sl	moist ightly	loam; plasti	modera ic; man	te med: Y very	ium gra fine an	ınular ıd many	struct fine r	ure pa oots;	arting to r common ve:	noderate ry fine tu	medium bular	and			
few fine tı	ıbular]	pores;	neutra	al (pH:	=6.5).	87P452	6														
Ap2 slightly f medium tuk	- 16 to sticky, vular po	30 cr slight ores; r	n; dar ^j :ly pla :eutral	t brown stic; (pH=(n (7.5 commol 5.7). !	YR 3/2) n very 5 to 10	moist fine an % mixin	clay : d commc ng of F	loam; n on fine 3t mate	oderat(roots; rial wi	e mediu common ith thi	um suba 1 very s hori	ingular fine tu zon. 8	block bular 7P4530	cy structu: and few).	re partin	g to w	eak co	arse granu	lar; friabl	le,
Btl subangular fine tubul <i>s</i>	- 30 to : block; ir pore:	64 cr y struc s; few	n; stro sture; discor	ong br(friab: tinuou	own (7 le, sl: us dist	.5YR 5/ ightly tinct c	(6) int sticky !lay filr	erior ; ; commc ns on f	and str on very [aces c	ong br(fine ar f peds;	own (7. nd few ; sligh	5YR 5/ fine ro tly ac	(6) ext ots; c id (pH	erior common =6.1).	moist clay very fine 1 87P4531	<i>y;</i> modera cubular a	te med. nd com	ium mon			
Bt2 slightly ⊊ distinct c	- 64 to sticky, ;lay fil1	99 cr plast: ns on f	n; strc lc; con laces c	ng bra mon ve f peds	own (7 ery fin s; few	.5YR 5/ e roots medium	(6) int ;; commu 1 round	erior r on very ed iror	moist c <i>Y</i> fine t ı-manga	lay; mu ubular nese co	oderate and cc oncreti	e mediu mmon fi ons; m	m suba ne tub edium	ngular ular f acid (<pre>c blocky st pores; com (pH=5.8). 8</pre>	cructure; non discc 37P4532	friab	le, us			
Bt3	- 99 to '	120 CT	ι; yell	owish	brown	(10YR	5/6) ii	nterioi	r moist	clay;	common	n mediu	m fain	t and	few mediu	n faint m	ottles	; mode	rate		

Bt4 --120 to 145 cm; yellowish brown (10YR 5/6) interior moist clay; common fine prominent and common medium distinct mottles; continuous prominent clay films on faces of peds; few fine rounded iron-manganese concretions; medium acid (pH=5.5). 87P4533 medium subangular blocky structure; firm, slightly sticky, plastic; few very fine roots; few very fine tubular pores; common

moderate medium angular blocky structure; firm; few very fine roots; few very fine tubular pores; common continuous prominent clay films on faces of peds; medium acid (pH=5.5). Few very fine flakes of mica-biotite almost microscopic. 87P4534. Bt5 --145 to 175 cm; light yellowish brown (2.5Y 6/4) interior moist clay; many coarse prominent and common medium prominent mottles; moderate coarse angular blocky structure; firm; few very fine roots; few very fine tubular pores; many discontinuous prominent clay films on faces of peds; medium acid (pH=5.5). Common very fine mica. 87P4535.

BC --175 to 190 cm; yellowish brown (10YR 5/8) interior moist sandy loam; common medium distinct and common fine distinct mottles; weak coarse subangular blocky structure; very friable; few very fine roots; few very fine tubular pores; common

discontinuous distinct clay bridging between sand grains; medium acid (pH=5.5). Few fine mica. 87P4536. 2C --190 to 220 cm; light yellowish brown (10YR 6/4) moist gravelly sandy loam; massive; very friable; medium acid (pH=5.5); 30 percent pebbles. Few fine mica. 87P4537

Figure 2.—Continued.

ЕH Ц р z 0 н H Ц N Я Н CHARACTE COUNTY, MONTANA) (CARBON RIMARY പ Þ

Ц

Pedon: RC	-24 S.	AMPLED AS:	Series	not de.	signat	eq										
)	TOTAL	(CLAY)	- SIL	T) -)		- SAND -		(TEXTURE	(>2MM)
			CLAY	SILT	SAND	FINE	FINE	MEDIUM	COARSE	VF	ſщ	М	U	VC	CLASS	ΤW
SAMPLE	DEPTH	HORIZON	LT	.002	.05	LT	.002	.005	.02	.05	.10	.25	.5	Г		PCT OF
. ON	(CM)		.002	05	- 2	.001	005	02	05	10	25	50	-1	-2		WHOLE
			- - -	1	1 1 1	1 1 1	PCT	0F <2	MIM	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1		^		SOIL
RC-24192	0 - 4	A	30.47	45.3	24.2	27.8	4.1	9.8	31.4	8.5	7.1	2.2	3.1	3.3	sgcl	IJ
RC-24193	4- 9	Blt	34.06	43.8	22.1	31.7	3.0	10.6	30.3	7.8	6.6	2.1	2.8	2.9	sgcl	10
RC-24194	9- 19	B2tca	37.20	45.1	17.7	33.9	2.9	9.9	32.3	7.9	5.4	1.4	1.7	1.3	sgsicl	D
RC-24195	19- 30	B3tca	26.04	51.4	22.6	22.8	3.8	12.0	35.7	9.0	7.3	1.8	2.2	2.4	sgsil+	D
RC-24196	30- 45	К	19.38	35.6	35.0	27.1	9.6	9.4	22.4	5.8	13.1	5.4	5.9	4.8	sgcl-	15
RC-24197	45- 62	2C1ca	13.80	17.1	69.1	10.6	2.1	4.5	10.6	5.4	17.1	11.8	17.6	17.3	vgsl	70
RC-24198	62- 87	2C2ca	3.04	8.4	88.5	2.3	0.8	2.5	5.1	4.9	23.0	20.2	25.8	14.6	rgs	80
RC-24199	87-300	2C3ca	0.50	2.1	97.4	0.3	0.0	1.2	6.0	1.5	20.0	34.8	37.1	4.1	ngs	80
	ORGN	ORGN	INORGN	CACO		H	BULK DENS	1 ITY								
	U	д	പ	<2MM		H20	FIELD MOI	ST								
DEPTH						1:1										
(CM)	PCT	< PPM	^ - -	PCT			g/cc									
0- 4	2.3	286	449	0.0		6.4	1.51									
4-9	2.4	187	378	0.0		6.7	1.69									
9- 19	1.6	291	446	1.5		7.4	1.40									
19- 30	1.3	350	383	25.6		8.0	1.28									
30-45	2.0	96	395	51.4		8.0	1.26									
45- 62	0.3	122	203	16.4		8.3	1.80									
62- 87	0.2	13	232	2.3		8.5	1.80									

Figure 3. Site-specific soil pedon data (A, characterization data; B, profile description) for a soil sampled as part of a Quaternary paleoclimatic/chronosequence study in Carbon County, Montana (Reheis, 1987). Reheis (1987) notes that the particle size of the <2-millimeter (mm) fraction was obtained by using the methobtained by methods described in Alexander and Robertson (1970). CaCO₃ was removed by acid treatment before the particle size of the <2-mm fraction was determined. The Carbon County soil survey (Parker and others, 1975) indicates that the sampled pedon is in the map unit Hf, Harvey loam, from 2 to 4 percent ods described in Day (1965); bulk densities were obtained by using the methods of Blake (1965); organic carbon values were obtained by using the Walkleyslope. Based on the description of the Harvey soil, we interpret this pedon to be reasonably representative of the series and will include the data for pedon RC-24 with other data for the Harvey series. Data required for soil organic carbon calculation are shown in red type. (For explanation of abbreviations and Black titration procedure (Allison, 1965); CaCO₃ values were measured by using the Chttick apparatus (Bachman and Machette, 1977); and P values were aboratory method codes, see Soil Survey Staff, 1995, 1996.)

Al 0 to 4 cm; 10YR 3/2 (very dark grayish brown) moist, 10YR 5/2.5 (grayish brown to brown)dry; slightly gravelly clay loam; moderate granular structure; sticky, plastic; clear smooth boundary.
Blt 4 to 9 cm; 10YR 3/3 (dark brown) moist, 10YR 4/2.5 (dark grayish brown) dry, strong medium subangular blocky breaking to weak, fine platy very sticky, plastic; few, thin clay films on ped faces; clear smooth boundary.
B2tca 9 to 19 cm; 10YR 4/3 (brown-dark brown) moist, 10YR 5/3 (brown) dry; slightly gravelly silty clay loam; moderate medium subangular blocky structure parting to weak medium granular; strong medium subangular blocky breaking to moderate, fine platy; very sticky, very plastic; common, thick clay films on ped faces; gradual, smooth boundary.
B3tca 19 to 30 cmm; 10YR 5/3 (brown) moist, 10YR 6/3 (pale brown) dry; slightly gravelly silt loam to silty clay loam; moderate fine to medium subangular blocky breaking to weak, fine platey; very sticky, very plastic; few, thin clay films on ped faces; clear, smooth boundary.
K 30 to 45 cm; 2.5Y 8/3 (white-pale yellow) moist, 10YR 8/1 (white) dry; slightly gravelly clay-loam to loam; moderate medium platey to massive; sticky, plastic; gradual, smooth boundary.
2CICa 45 to 62 cm; 10YR 6/3 (pale brown) moist, 10YR 7/3 (very pale brown) dry; very gravelly sandy loam; massive; slightly sticky, non- plastic; gradual, smooth boundary.
2C2Ca 62 to 87 cm; 10YR 5/4 (yellowish brown) moist, 10YR 6/3.5 (pale brown-light yellowish brown); very gravelly sand; massive; non-sticky, non-plastic; gradual, smooth boundary.
2C3Ca 87 to 300+ cm; 10YR 6/3.5 (pale brown-light yellowish brown) moist, 10YR 8/3.5 (very pale brown) dry; very gravelly sand; massive; non- sticky, non-plastic; gradual, smooth boundary.

Figure 3.—Continued.

RIPTION S S 띠 р z о Д ഥ പ (B) NARRATIVE

Vegetation: grasses, sagebrush R 23 E (Montana Base Meridian) Elevation: 3,700 ft (1,127.8 m) MSL Stoniness: Land Use: grazing Classification: T3 S, Location: Carbon County, Montana; NE/4 SW/4 NE/4, Sec. 34, Physiography: terrace Slope:____ - aridic Moisture Regime Drainage:___ Parent Material:__ Runoff: Longitude: Precipitation: about 39 cm Erosion or Deposition: Pedon: RC-24 Latitude:

Described By: Marith Reheis Sample Date: 1987 Diagnostic Horizons: .

H Ц р z 0 н ЕH Ц N н പ 띠 H υ ¢ പ Ц н υ ⊳ പ ¢ Σ н പ പ

 (\mathbf{A})

Ц

S91CO-04	3-001					(FREMO	NT COL	JNTY, C	OLORAD	(0(D	U TNT A	∆ТЕ 01	20/8L/
SAMPLED 7 REVISED 7	AS: CATHE TO:	EDRAL FI	AMILY		- ТОАМУ - LOAMY -	- SKELET - SKELET	AL, MI AL, MI	IXED LI XED LI	THIC H	IAPLOBOI IAPLOBOI	ROLL ROLL				TED ST.	ATES D	EPARTM	IENT OF	AGRIC	
SSL - PR(- PEI - GEN	JJECT 91F JON 91F VERAL MET	P 173, P1062, 5 PHODS 1	(CP91C SAMPLE LB1A,	0242) S 91P 2A1, 2	WET MC 6932- 18	JUNTAIN 6935	SPAN1	ISH PEP	IKS					NAT NAT SOL	UKAL K IONAL L SURV COLN, 1	EY LAB	ES CUN URVEY ORATOR KA 685	ISERVAT CENTER LY 08-386		KVICE
	-1	- 2	- 3	-4	- 2	9 -	2	8 -	6 -	-10-	-11-	-12-	-13-	-14-	-15-	-16-	-17-	-18-	-19-	-20-
SAMPLE NO.	DEPTH (CM)	HORI	NOZ	 (CLAY LT LT .002 <) SAND . 05 - 2	 (CI FINE LT .0002 				 (VF . 05 10 1)	· · 10 · · 25	SAND M . 25 50 			 (-COAR. - 5 PC	 SE FRA - WEI 5 -20 T OF <	 CTTONS GHT - 20 -75 -75 (3)	(MM) -) (1 -) - 1 - 75 B1) ->	 (>2MM) WT WT PCT OF WHOLE SOIL
91P6932H 91P6933S 91P6934S 91P6935S	6- 0 0- 5 5- 25 25- 30	01 A1 A2 BW		13.6 14.0 14.7	17.0 14.9 12.7	69.4 71.1 72.6			7.5 7.0 6.0	9.5 7.9 6.7	10.1 12.6 14.6	18.9 19.1 27.4	15.5 15.2 19.8	14.2 13.5 8.3	10.7 10.7 2.5	- 8 4	9 112 11	14 	65 76 88	29 39 71
DEPTH (CM)	orgn C 6A1c PCT	TOTAL N 6B3a <2MM	EXTR EXTR P 6S3 PPM	TOTAL S S 6R3b < PER	(I (I E2 FE 6C2b CENT	DITH-CI NTRACTA XTRACTA AL 6G7a OF <2	 T) BLE -) MN 6D2a MM>	CEC CEC	 (CLAY) 15 BAR 8D1 8D1	 (ATTER) - LIM: LL 4F1 PCT <(BERG) ITS - PI 4F 0.4MM	 (- BUL) FIELD MOIST 4A3a < (K DENS: 1/3 BAR 4A1d 3/CC -	 ITY -) OVEN DRY 4A1h >	COLE COLE SOIL 4D1 CM/CM	 (' FIELD MOIST 4B4 <	 WATER 1/10 BAR 4B1c -PCT 0	CONTEN CONTEN 1/3 BAR 4B1C F <2MM	T	 WRD WHOLE SOIL 4C1 CM/CM
6- 0 0- 5 5- 25 25- 30	10.2 3.0 2.2 0.8							1.59 1.44 1.22	0.60				1.41 1.66	1.50 1.84	0.009		20.4	. 16.6 14.7	19.5 8.5 8.5	0.05 0.04
DEPTH (CM)	(- NH4 CA 5B5a 6N2e <	10AC EX: MG 5B5a 602d 	TRACTA NA 5B5a 6P2b 	BLE B <i>I</i> K 5B5a 6Q2b 	ASES -) SUM BASES - MEQ /) ACID- ITY 6H5a / 100 G	EXTR AL 6G9c 	(SUM CATS 5A3a	CEC NH4 - OAC 5A8b) BASES + AL 5A3b >	AL SAT 5G1	- BASE SUM 5C3 P(SAT- NH4 OAC 5C1 CT	CO3 AS CACO3 <2MM 6E1G >	RES. OHMS /CM 8E1		COND. MMHOS /CM 8I		- PH - CACL2 . 01M 8C1f 1:2) H2O 8C1f 1:1
6- 0 0- 5 5- 25 25- 30	32.5 17.3 15.7 14.7	5.7 3.1 2.8 3.7	0.3 0.1 TR 0.1	1.1 0.5 0.3	39.6 21.0 19.2 18.8	13.4 3.8 2.5		53.0 24.8 21.6 21.3	42.9 21.6 20.2 18.0			75 85 89 88	92 95 100						5.6 6.2 6.1	5.7 6.4 6.5 6.7

or Cathedral-like, soil formed on a steep north-facing slope in Fremont County, Colorado (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2001d, accessed January 18, 2002, central Colorado. The entry, PIED, for "Vegetation" in the "Narrative pedon Description" (field description) stands for the two-needled pinyon and QUGA for at URL http://ssidata.nrcs.usda.gov/). Cathedral soils are well-drained Mollisols formed in residuum or colluvium from granite rock in mountainous areas of Figure 4. Site-specific soil pedon data that provide relatively complete (A) characterization and (B) field description for a shallow, micaceous, Cathedral, Gambel oak or Rocky Mountain white oak. Data required for soil organic carbon calculation are shown in red type. (For explanation of abbreviations and laboratory method codes, see Soil Survey Staff, 1995, 1996.) z

Pedon: Cathedral Family	NSSL Pedon Number: 91P1062
Soil Survey Number S91-CO-043-001	Print Date: 01/18/02
Location: Fremont County,	
20' S. & 70' W., 5SE.NE.	
Latitude: 38-20-34-N	Longitude: 105-14-07-W
Physiography: in mountains or deeply dissected plateaus	
Slope: 58% north facing	Elevation: 1981 m MSL
Precipitation: 46 cm - Moisture Regime.	
Drainage:	Land Use:
Stoniness: Erosion or Deposition:	Runoff:
Parent Material:	
Classification: Loamy-skeletal, mixed Lithic Haploboroll	
Vegetation: PIED QUGA	
Diagnostic Horizons: to cm Cambic, to cm Mollic	
Described By:	Sample Date: 6/91
Above ground % surface coarse fragments (Rubbly), 2% Gravels, 8% Cobbles,	16% Stones, 2% Boulders, 18% Rock Outcrop.
Predominantly micaceous sands in both A1 & A2. Thin, discontinous tongues	; of Bw extend into Fractured Bedrock.

Quga leaf litter Carex and 91P6932

cm;;

0

t t

ഹ

ł

Ч

loam; weak very fine granular structure; loose, loose, nonsticky, nonplastic; few medium and many fine roots; many fine and medium cm; very dark grayish brown (10YR 3/2) dry very stony loam and very dark brown (10YR 2/2) moist very stony slightly effervescent; slightly acid (pH=6.2); 10 percent cobbles, 10 percent stones, 15 percent pebbles; clear smooth boundary. 91P6933 interstitial pores; ഗ 0 to I I Al

moderate medium subangular blocky structure parting to weak medium granular; hard, friable, nonsticky, nonplastic; few coarse and common medium roots; common fine interstitial and few coarse tubular pores; slightly effervescent; neutral (pH=6.6); 15 percent 25 cm; dark gravish brown (10YR 4/2) dry very stony loam and very dark brown (10YR 2/2) moist very stony loam. 20 percent cobbles, 20 percent stones; clear irregular boundary. 91P6934 5 to 1 pebbles, A2

Bw -- 25 to 30 cm; dark brown (10YR 3/3) and yellowish brown (10YR 5/4) dry extremely stony sandy clay loam and dark brown (10YR 3/3) moist extremely stony sandy clay loam; moderate medium subangular blocky structure parting to weak medium granular; medium tubular pores; few faint clay films on faces of peds and in pores; slightly effervescent; slightly acid (pH=6.4); 20 hard, firm, slightly sticky, slightly plastic; common fine and common medium roots; common fine interstitial and few fine and percent pebbles, 25 percent cobbles, 30 percent stones; abrupt irregular boundary. 91P6935

Figure 4.—Continued.

S82KY-055-008

К ЕH Ц Р z 0 н H ¢ N н പ ഥ H (CRITTENDEN COUNTY, KENTUCKY) υ Ц Ц СНА R Y RIMA പ (P

PRINT DATE 01/15/02

SAMPLED AS: MEWPHIS; FINE-SILTY, MIXED, THERMIC TYPIC HAPLUDALF REVISED TO: MEMPHIS; FINE-LOAMY OVER CLAYEY, MIXED, THERMIC TYPIC HAPLUDALF

SSL - PROJECT 83P 119, (CP83KY217) ALLEN, CRITTENDEN AND PIKE COUNTIES - PEDON 83P 698, SAMPLES 83P 3453- 3458

- GENERAL METHODS 1B1A, 2A1, 2B

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE NATURAL RESOURCES CONSERVATION SERVICE NATIONAL SOIL SURVEY CENTER SOIL SURVEY LABORATORY LINCOLN, NEBRASKA 68508-3866

$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	- 1 -	2	- 3	-4	2	9 -	2	- 8 -	6 -	-10-	-11-	-12-	-13-	-14-	-15-	-16-	-17-	-18-	-19-	-20-
AP 16.6 81.5 1.9 42.1 39.4 1.3 0.3 <td>L</td> <td>HORIZ</td> <td>NO.</td> <td>' (' CLAY LT</td> <td>TOTAL SILT . 002</td> <td>) - SAND . 05</td> <td> FINE LT</td> <td>XY) CO3 LT</td> <td>FINE (SII) FINE (002)</td> <td>LT) COARSE .02</td> <td> (VF .05</td> <td></td> <td>.25</td> <td>ີ ບ ເ</td> <td></td> <td> (-COAF 2</td> <td> 2SE FRA 2SE FRA - WEI</td> <td> CTIONS (GHT 20</td> <td>MM) -) - 1</td> <td> (>2MM) WT PCT OF</td>	L	HORIZ	NO.	' (' CLAY LT	TOTAL SILT . 002) - SAND . 05	 FINE LT	XY) CO3 LT	FINE (SII) FINE (002)	LT) COARSE .02	 (VF .05		.25	ີ ບ ເ		 (-COAF 2	 2SE FRA 2SE FRA - WEI	 CTIONS (GHT 20	MM) -) - 1	 (>2MM) WT PCT OF
AP I6.6 81.5 1.9 42.1 39.4 1.3 0.3 0.3 <				. 002	05	- 5	. 0002	.002 . PCT 0	02 DF <2MN	05 M (3A:	10 1)	25	50	' ' 1 ' '		-5 <- PO	-20 CT OF <	-75 75MM (3B	75 1 1)->	NHOLE
		AP		16.6	81.5	1.9			42.1	39.4	1.3	0.3	0.3	1	;	TR	1	I I	Ч	1
		BT1		28.5	70.5	1.0			39.4	31.1	0.9	0.1	:	;	;	1		:	TR	:
BT3 22.5 76.3 1.2 39.9 36.4 1.2 <td></td> <td>BT2</td> <td></td> <td>30.1</td> <td>68.8</td> <td>1.1</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>37.2</td> <td>31.6</td> <td>1.0</td> <td>0.1</td> <td>:</td> <td>;</td> <td>;</td> <td>1</td> <td></td> <td>:</td> <td>TR</td> <td>:</td>		BT2		30.1	68.8	1.1			37.2	31.6	1.0	0.1	:	;	;	1		:	TR	:
		втз		22.5	76.3	1.2			39.9	36.4	1.2	:	:	;	;	1		:	1	:
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		BC		18.5	80.5	1.0			43.5	37.0	0.9	0.1	:	;	;	1		:	TR	:
TOTAL BXTR TOTAL (- DITH-CIT -) (RATIO/CLAY) (ATTERBERG) (- BULK DENSITY -) COLE (WATER CONTENT) WRD N P S EXTRACTABLE 15 - LIMITS - FIELD 1/3 OVEN WHOLE FIELD 1/10 1/3 15 WHOLE FE AL MN CEC BAR LL PI MOIST BAR DRY SOIL MOIST BAR BAR BAR SOIL 6B3a 6S3 6R3a 6C2b 6G7a 6D2a 8D1 8D1 4F1 4F 4A3a 4A1d 4A1h 4D1 4B4 4B1c 4B3c 4B3c 4C1 <gbm <-="" <2mm="" of="" percent="" ppm=""> PCT <0.4MM < G/CC> CM/CM <pct <2mm="" of=""> CM/CM 0.63 0.48 0.50 0.45 39 19 0.51 0.47 39 16 0.53 0.47 39 16 0.58 0.50 0.50 35 10 0.58 0.50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 5</pct></gbm>		υ		17.8	81.2	1.0			43.0	38.2	1.0	I I	I I	I I	I I	I I	1	1	1	1
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		TOTAL N	EXTR	rotal S		TTH-CI TTH-CI TRACTAE		(RATIO)	/CLAY)	 (ATTERI - LIMI	3ERG) 115 -		1/3	OVEN '	COLE WHOLE	FIELD	 WATER 1/10	CONTENT 1/3	15 -) 15 -)	WRD WHOLE
<2MM	<i>T</i>)	6B3a	633	6R3a	FE 6C2D	AL 6G7a	MN 6D2a	CEC 8D1	BAR 8D1	LL 4F1	ΡI 4F	MOLST 4A3a	BAR 4A1d	DRY 4A1h	4D1	MOLST 4B4	4B1C	4B1C	BAR 4B2a	SOIL 4C1
0.63 0.48 8.0 0.50 0.45 39 19 0.51 0.45 19 12.7 0.53 0.47 39 16 13.5 0.58 0.50 35 10 6.2 0.58 0.50 35 10 8.9		<2MM	. Mqq	< - PER	CENT (OF <2№	< MJ			PCT <(0.4MM	: : V	- 22/5	^ 1	CM/CM	ı ı V	- PCT O	F <2MM	^ 	CM/CM
0.50 0.45 39 19 12.7 0.51 0.45 1 13.5 13.5 0.53 0.47 39 16 10.6 0.58 0.50 35 10 8.9	~							0.63	0.48										8.0	
13.5 13.5 0.51 0.45 13.6 0.53 0.47 39 16 10.6 0.58 0.50 9.2 9.2 0.58 0.50 35 10 8.9								0.50	0.45	39	19								12.7	
0.53 0.47 39 16 10.6 0.58 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.58 0.50 35 10 8.9								0.51	0.45										13.5	
0.58 0.50 9.2 0.58 0.50 35 10 8.9								0.53	0.47	39	16								10.6	
0.58 0.50 35 10 8.9								0.58	0.50										9.2	
	_							0.58	0.50	35	10								8.9	

den County, southwestern Kentucky (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2001d, accessed January 15, 2002, at URL http://ssidata.nrcs.usda.gov/). The Memphis Figure 5. Typical site-specific soil pedon data that provide a relatively incomplete (A) characterization and (B) field description for a Memphis soil in Crittenseries is widespread on ridges and upper side slopes underlain by loess, from northern Louisiana to northwestern Kentucky. Data required for soil organic carbon calculation are shown in red type. (For explanation of abbreviations and laboratory method codes, see Soil Survey Staff, 1995, 1996.) (A)—Continued

Ц Ě į S82KY-055-008 SAMPLI USDA-1

PRINT DATE 01/15/02

-20-

-19-

-18-

-17-

-16-

-15-

-14-

-13-

-12-

-11-

-10-

- - 6 -

- 8 - -

-- 2 - -

- - 9 -

- 2 - -

-4--

- 3 - -

- 2 - -

-1--

PLUDALF	8	
; FINE-SILI', MIXEU, THERMIC TYPIC HA	; PEDON 83P 698, SAMPLE 83P 3453- 345	
(FLEU AS : MEMPHIS	A-NRCS-NSSC-SOIL SURVEY LABORATORY	

	(- NH4	OAC EX	TRACTAE	SLE BAS	3ES -)	ACID-	EXTR)	- CEC -	(- -	AL	- BASE	SAT- (CO3 AS I	RES.	COND. (Hd	(
נושרמר	CA	DMG	NA	К К С	MUS	ТТY	AL	NUM	- 104 -	BASES	SAT	SUM	NH4	CACO3 0	SMHC	MMHOS /	CACL2	H2O
(CM)	6N2e	ород 602d	6P2b	ороа I 6Q2b	040F0	6H5a	6G9a	5A3a	5A8b	+ AL 5A3b	5G1	503	5C1	6Elg 8	/ CM 3E1	/ CM 8 I	8Clf	8C1f
	ı I V	1 1 1			-MEQ /	100 G	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1		ı ı v	P(- - 長				1:2	1:1
0- 18	5.0	1.4	0.1	0.4	6.9	7.9	TR	14.8	10.5			47	99				4.8	5.4
18- 36	7.8	3.2	0.1	0.3	11.4	7.8		19.2	14.2			59	80				5.5	5.9
36- 64	5.8	5.2	0.1	0.4	11.5	9.4	0.3	20.9	15.4	11.8	m	55	75				5.1	5.5
64-107	2.9	3.6	0.3	0.3	7.1	10.8	1.2	17.9	12.0	8.3	14	40	59				4.4	4.9
107-122	2.4	3.0	0.2	0.2	5.8	9.2	1.3	15.0	10.7	7.1	18	39	54				4.5	4.9
122-153	2.3	2.9	0.2	0.2	5.6	9.6	1.2	15.2	10.4	6.8	18	37	54				4.5	4.9
						Ì		• 	1 • •	1	; ; ;	1	,))	4 4 4	;) 			
Pedon: Mem	phis Wimbo	0 0 0 1	VV DEE	000							NSSL	Pedon	Numbe:	r: 83P06	598			
JOLL JULVE Location: Physiograp	ritten Critten hy: Upl	iden Co and sl	nty, F unty, F ope in	-uuo Kentucl level	ty, 8 n or und	ni N of lulatir	E Matte 19 uplé	n; 1.! Inds	5 mi W	of KY	Highwa	. Date 17 365,	400	eruz Et Nof	E Bell Mi	nes Road.		
slope: 4	4 7 _/o		4				4)				Elevat	ion:	u u	MSL				
Precipitat	ion:	- cm	Udic Mc	oistur€	e Regin	le.												
Drainage:												Land (Jse: P.	asture]	land and 1	native pastu	e	
Stoniness:				Erc	osion c	or Depc	ositio	л:				RL	inoff:					
Parent Mat	erial:	loess	from n	nixed r	nateria	11			1									
Classificat	ion: Fi	ne-sil	ty, mi>	ted, tl	lermic	Typic	Haplu	dalf										
Diagnostic	Horizo	ns:																
Described	By: Eul	las Ja	cobs								Sampl	e Date	: 05/.	82				
Ap fine roots:	0 to slight	18 cm; lv aci	brown d (pH=6	to da:	rk brow abrupt	vn (10) smooth	rR 4/3. Dound) inte Jarv. 8	rior mc 33P3453	hist si	lt loa	im; wea	ık fine	granula	ar struct	ure; friable,	commo	c.
	1	۲	ţ		4			1										

-- 18 to 36 cm; brown to dark brown (7.5YR 4/4) interior moist silty clay loam; moderate fine and medium subangular blocky structure, firm; few fine roots; continuous clay films on faces of peds; slightly acid (pH=6.3); gradual smooth boundary. 83P3454 Bt1

firm; few fine roots; continuous clay films and few continuous black stains; strongly acid (pH=5.3); gradual smooth boundary. 83P3455 64 cm; yellowish brown (10YR 5/6) interior moist silty clay loam; moderate medium subangular blocky structure; t 0 -- 36 Bt2

Bt3 -- 64 to 107 cm; strong brown (7.5YR 5/6) interior moist silty clay loam; moderate medium subangular blocky structure; firm; few fine roots; continuous clay films; strongly acid (pH=5.3); gradual smooth boundary. 83P3456

BC --107 to 122 cm; strong brown (7.5YR 5/6) interior moist silty clay loam; weak fine subangular blocky structure; firm; discontinuous clay films; strongly acid (pH=5.3); gradual smooth boundary. 83P3457 C --122 to 153 cm; strong brown (7.5YR 5/6) interior moist silt loam; massive; friable; strongly acid (pH=5.3). 83P3458

Figure 5.—Continued.

H
¢
р
z
0
н
E۲
¢
N
н
പ
ы
ЕH
υ
⊿!
n.
4
Z F
н т.
0
×
Ц
¢
Σ
н
പ്പ
凸
9
Z

Ц

S74-Ark-1	21-6- (1-	-8), 74RO06	(RAN	DOLF CO	JUNTY, A	RKANSAS)				SOI SOI	L CHAR	ACTERI. DEPARTI	ZATION 1 MENT	LABORAT	ORY
SAMPLED A REVISED I	S: GEPP 'O:									UN I FAY	VERSIT ETTEVI	Y OF AI LLE, AI	RKANSAS RKANSAS	72701	
	 		 (CLAY	 -TOTAL SILT) SAND					· · ·	-SAND- M	י י ט ¦)) VC	(TEXTUF	 (日
SAMPLE	DEPTH	HORIZON	ГЛ	.002	.05	.002	.005	.02	.05	.10	.25	.5	Ч		
. ON	(NI)		.002	05	- 2	005	02	05	10	25	50	- 1	- 2		
			ı ı V	1 1 1	1 1 1	1 1 1	-PCT OF <	:2MM (3A1)	1 1 1		1 1 1	1 1 1	^ 1		
none	-2 /1	01													
7875	0- 1	Al	11.7	70.6	17.7	6.9	28.9	31.8	5.8	4.9	2.5	3.3	1.2	sil	
7876	1- 7	A2	14.2	63.3	22.5	12.1	31.7	19.5	9.2	5.0	3.4	2.8	2.1	sil	
7877	7-13	A&B	26.5	56.5	17.0	12.3	25.7	18.5	6.8	4.1	2.7	1.8	1.6	sil	
7878	13-28	B21T	70.2	24.4	5.4	8.3	8.6	7.5	2.8	1.0	0.6	0.7	0.3	υ	
7879	28-41	B22T	76.5	19.5	4.0	4.5	8.2	6.8	1.5	0.8	0.5	0.7	0.5	υ	
7880	41-53	B22T	76.5	19.4	4.4	5.5	6.8	7.1	1.4	1.0	0.5	0.9	0.6	υ	
7881	53-63	взт	83.1	13.8	3.1	3.0	6.1	4.7	1.0	0.6	0.3	0.7	0.5	υ	
7882	63-72	взт	82.3	13.6	4.1	0.4	8.0	5.2	1.5	0.7	0.6	0.8	0.5	υ	
	ORGN (-	- BULK DENSI				NH4OAC EX	TRACTABLE	BASES		ACID-		ASE		Hd -	
	М	FIELD 1/3	OVEN		CA	DM	NA	М	SUM	ТTY	1	SAT	KCL C	CACL2	H2O
DEPTH		MOIST BAR	DRY								Z	H40AC	. NI	MIC	
(NI)	6A1c	4A3a 4A1d	4A1h		5B5a	5B5a	5B5a	5B5a	5c3	6H5a		5C1	8C1g 8	SC1f 8	Clf
	PCT	<g cc<="" td=""><td></td><td>ž</td><td>1 1 1 1 V</td><td></td><td> ME</td><td>Q / 100 G-</td><td>T T T</td><td>^ </td><td></td><td>PCT</td><td></td><td>1:2 1</td><td>:1</td></g>		ž	1 1 1 1 V		ME	Q / 100 G-	T T T	^ 		PCT		1:2 1	:1
光-0	I				I	I	I	I	I	I		I			I
0- 1	1.50				7.5	1.2	0.2	0.3	9.2	12.2		43		9	с.
1- 7	0.30				1.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	1.8	7.2		20		LC)	.4
7-13	0.20				1.0	0.4	0.2	0.2	1.8	6.2		23		L()	е.
13-28	0.10				2.6	3.0	0.2	0.3	6.1	15.9		28		LC)	.1
28-41	0.10				2.4	3.5	0.2	0.4	6.5	19.8		25		LC)	0.
41-53	0.10				2.0	3.7	0.2	0.4	6.3	18.0		26		L()	0.
53-63	0.10				1.9	3.2	0.2	0.4	5.7	22.6		20		LC)	.1
63-72	0.10				1.9	3.2	0.2	0.4	5.7	22.5		20		L)	.1

Series Description on-line database describes Gepp soils as "very deep, well drained, moderately permeable soils formed in residuum from dolomitic and cherty limestone Rutledge, University of Arkansas, Fayetteville, Arkansas, unpub. data, received 2001). Both (A) characterization and (B) field description data are limited. The data are for Survey Staff, 2002, accessed January 16, 2002, at URL http://soils.usda.gov/technical/classification/osd/index.html). Data required for soil organic carbon calculation bedrock ... on level to steep soils on uplands in the Ozark Highlands." The database classes Gepp soils as "very-fine, mixed, semiactive, mesic Typic Paleudults" (Soil a Gepp soil, Randolph County, Arkansas. No taxonomy was included with the field description or laboratory data. The Natural Resources Conservation Service Official Figure 6. Thirty-year-site-specific soil pedon data from the soil characterization laboratory, Agronomy Department, University of Arkansas (Arkansas database; E.M. are shown in red type. (For explanation of abbreviations and laboratory method codes, see Soil Survey Staff, 1995, 1996.)

edon: Gepp atitude: rosion or De ermeability: article Size escribed by: 01 - part!	Dosition: Longitude: position: Air Temp Control Section: Brown and McFadd Ly decomposed org	Physes 274 Annald Physes 212-2 Slope: 12-2 Perature: Pare and Sample and Computer;	iography:	Geomorphic Position:	Microrelie MLRA: N/A Stoniness: Diagnostic Hor	f:	, , ,
Al 0 : oots; few wo]	co l in; dark gr rm holes and cast	rayish brown cings; pH 6.0	cherty (50%) sil ; abrupt smooth	lt loam; weak fine granular boundary. 7875	structure; very	friable; common f	ine and medium
A2 1 to nd medium roo	o 7 in; yellowis ots; few worm hol	sh brown (10Y les; few pore	R 5/4) cherty (4 s; pH 5.5; clear	10%) silt loam; weak mediu ;,wavy boundary. 7876	m subangular blo	cky structure; fr	iable; common f
A&B 7 ¹ edium subang ew pores; pH ^f	to 13 in; yellowi ılar blocky struc 5.0; clear smooth	ish red (5YR sture; friabl n boundary.	4/8) silty clay e; about 10% ch6 7877	loam; streaks of yellowis ert fragments from 1/8 in	h brown (10YR 5/. to 3 in in diame	4) and (10YR 5/6) ter; few fine and 1	silt loam; wea few medium root
B21t 1: lockky struct mooth boundar	3 to 28 in; red (sure; firm; contin :y. 7878	(2.5YR 4/8) c nuous thin cl	lay; moderate to ay films on faces	o strong medium subangular s of peds; few (<5%) chert	blocky structur fragments; few :	e breaking to stro roots; few pores;	ong fine angula pH 4.5; gradu

z 0 н H പ н പ υ Ŋ 띠 р z 0 р ഥ പ ഥ \triangleright н

(B) NARRAT

B22t -- 28 to 53 in; red (2.5YR 4/8) clay; common fine and medium faint red (10YR 4/8), yellowish red (5YR 4/8) and common medium distinct strong brown (7.5YR 5/8) mottles; moderate to strong medium subangular blocky structure; firm continuous thin clay films on faces of peds; about 5% chert fragmments from ½ to 3 in diameter; few pores lined with clay films; few medium roots; pH 5.0; gradual 7879 (28 to 41 in), 7880 (41 to 53 in) smooth boundary.

strong fine angular blocky structure; firm; continuous thin clay films; about 10% chert and siltstone fragments up to 3 in diameter; pH 5.5. 7881 (53 to 63 in), 7882 (63 to 72 in) B3t - 53 to 72 in; yellowish red (5YR 4/8) clay; common medium distinct strong brown (7.5YR 5/8), common medium prominent red breaking too (10YR 4/6) and few fine prominent light gray (10YR 7/1, 7/2) mottles; moderate to strong subangular blocky structure

Figure 6.—Continued.

Comparability of MUIR and SIR Data with Pedon Data

One of the fundamental differences between SIR/MUIR data and pedon data relates to the aggregate nature of the SIR/MUIR soil-interpretation records. There are relatively few interpretation records for each soil series represented in the map-unit components of STATSGO/SSURGO, compared to the potentially large number of records that may be available for a given soil series in the pedon database. Where there are multiple interpretation records, differences in values for soil properties typically represent the series-level variation associated with landscape position and geographic location (that is, soil-series phases). Because SSURGO is intended as a "local-use" database and land-management tool, there is more regional variation built into MUIR than in SIR. Both SIR and MUIR data are intended to represent the "typical" or characteristic ranges of the physical and chemical properties of the soils in each series represented in a map unit. Therefore, ranges based on representative, or typical, minimum and maximum values for each soil property are reported in the SIR/MUIR layer table records (the layer-specific portion of the soil-interpretation record). However, within individual interpretation records, there may not be a consistent derivation of the values reported for each soil property. Some properties may not have been measured for a particular series, in which case, "typical" values for a similar series may be used, or values for that soil property may be derived from local expert knowledge.

The site-specific pedon data have sample-specific values for each soil property, as the analyses are done on individual samples. In this study, the map-unit component, with its associated interpretation record, is viewed as a pseudo pedon that is representative of the soil series at the geographic location of the map unit. Consistent with this view, all "raw" data used in SIR/MUIR component-level calculations are based on the midpoint of the range of values reported for each soil property (equivalent to both the median and the mean). The pseudo-pedon model allows for computational consistency in the calculation of SOC storage values so that statistical comparisons can be made between calculations based on aggregate data (SIR/MUIR interpretation records) and those based on pedon data.

Calculations

SOC Storage (Mass Per Unit Area)

SOC storage is calculated for the 0 to 10, 10 to 20, 20 to 50, and 50 to 100 cm standard depth intervals. A schematic showing a representative pedon profile for a soil series is shown in figure 7. The schematic for a STATSGO/SSURGO component pseudo-pedon profile would be similar to the diagram in figure 7, except that horizons would be replaced by arbitrary depth layers—layer 1, 0 to 15 cm; layer 2, 15 to 50

cm; and so on. Values for the cumulative depth intervals of 0 to 20, 0 to 50, and 0 to 100 cm are then computed by summing the appropriate standard depth intervals.

Depth intervals used for SOC mass computations are "standardized" to permit geographic analysis of SOC storage. Horizon depths (pedon data) and layer depths (SIR/MUIR data) are quite variable because they are based on sampling strategies designed to characterize the soils accurately. Horizon thicknesses (and, therefore, depths to horizon boundaries) vary across all levels of taxonomy as a result of differences in soil development. The horizon-based sampling done to characterize an individual pedon of a soil series produces depth intervals consistent with the pedon horizon boundaries. Layer thicknesses of STATSGO/SSURGO components are loosely based on "typical" horizon thicknesses of the component soil series.

As storage is a soil property, an adjustment is also made for the volume in the soil profile occupied by coarse fragments greater than 2 millimeters (mm) in diameter. For example, if 30 percent of the profile volume is occupied by coarse fragments, the storage value is multiplied by 0.70. There can be considerable difference between the STATSGO and SSURGO "views" of coarse-fragment volume. Figure 8 shows the percentage of the total volume to a depth of 1 meter occupied by rock (measured as the component area-weighted mean coarsefragment volume) for Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina (A, STATSGO; B, SSURGO). The south-to-northtrending ridge where Mt. Mitchell is located is shown with a 20 to 30 percent coarse-fragment volume in the STATSGO view whereas, in the SSURGO view, this same area is shown with a 40 to 55 percent coarse-fragment volume. Although many of the pedon records in the S3C database have the requisite data for calculation of coarse-fragment volume, there are insufficient site-specific data for coarse-fragment volume to apply consistently to all of the soil series in the MRB portion of STATSGO and SSURGO. Therefore, the median coarsefragment volume values derived from SIR and MUIR are used for storage and inventory calculations based on pedon data as well as for those based on SIR/MUIR aggregate data.

Incremental SOC mass for each pseudo-pedon layer (SIR/MUIR databases) or pedon horizon (S3C database) is computed as

$$MI = \rho_{b} * 10 * (d_{bh} - d_{th}) * (oc/100) * f_{s}$$
(1)

where

- MI = incremental SOC mass, in kilograms per square meter (kg/m²) (total matrix, organic carbon)
- $\rho_b = \text{soil bulk density, in grams per cubic centimeter}$ (g/cm³)
- $10 = \text{factor for conversion from g/cm}^3 \text{ to kg/m}^2$
- d_{bb} = depth of soil layer/horizon bottom, in centimeters
- d_{th} = depth of soil layer/horizon top, in centimeters
- oc = soil organic carbon concentration, in weight percent
- $f_s =$ fraction of the profile volume occupied by soil



Figure 7. Representative pedon profile for a soil series. The 0 to 8 centimeter (cm) section of the A1 horizon was not sampled for organic carbon and represents a type 1 gap (surface horizon with no data). This section is assigned the soil organic carbon (SOC) value calculated for the 8 to 14 cm section of the A1 horizon. The A2, B3, and C1 horizons represent type 2 gaps—intermediate horizons not sampled for organic carbon. SOC values assigned to these horizons are calculated as the mass-weighted mean of the SOC values for the overlying and underlying horizons (examples given above). The standard depth intervals from 0 to 10, 10 to 20, 20 to 50, and 50 to 100 cm are delineated in red. Incremental (MI) and cumulative (MC) SOC mass calculations for the 20- to 50-cm standard depth interval are shown in the figure.

n

As an example, the incremental SOC mass for the B1 horizon (29 to 42 cm) illustrated in figure 7 is computed where $\rho_b = 1.37 \text{ g/cm}^3$, oc = 0.72 percent, and $f_a = 0.82$:

$$MI_{B1} = (1.37 \text{ g/cm}^3) * 10 * (42 \text{ cm} - 29 \text{ cm}) * (0.72\%) /100\%) * 0.82 = 1.05 \text{ kg/m}^2$$

Cumulative SOC mass for each standard depth interval, *hh*, is then computed as

$$MC_{hh} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} MI_{i}\right) * \left(t_{hh}/f_{hh}\right)$$
(2)
where

 MC_{hh} = cumulative SOC mass for the standard depth interval *hh*, in kilograms per square meter

= the total number of complete and/or partial soil layers or horizons within the standard depth interval



Figure 8. Component area-weighted mean coarse-fragment volume, depth interval from 0 to 100 centimeters, for (*A*) STATSGO map units and (*B*) SSURGO map units, Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina.

- i = the ith complete or partial soil layer/horizon within the standard depth interval
- MI_i = incremental SOC mass (equation (1)) for the ith complete or partial soil layer/horizon within the standard depth interval, in kilograms per square meter
- t_{hh} = standard interval thickness, in centimeters
- f_{hh} = standard interval thickness represented by data, in centimeters

The following values are used for *hh*: 01, 0 to 10 cm; 12, 10 to 20 cm; 25, 20 to 50 cm; 51, 50 to 100 cm; 02, 0 to 20 cm; 05, 0 to 50 cm; and 10, 0 to 100 cm. The adjustment made to MC_{*hh*} by the ratio $t_{$ *hh* $}/f_{$ *hh* $}$ accounts for any unsampled portion of the standard interval. In practice, this adjustment is only relevant for the deepest interval, as the shallower interval gaps are filled in by a mass-weighted interpolation of data for the adjacent boundary layers. In making this adjustment for the standard interval is simply applied to the rest of the interval. Values for MC, which are specific to individual records in the MUIR, SIR, or S3C databases, form the basis for all subsequent SOC calculations for soil map-unit components (fig. 9*C*), soil map

units (fig. 9B), and larger geographic areas such as counties (fig. 9A).

The calculation of cumulative SOC mass for the standard depth interval from 20 to 50 cm (MC₂₅) is shown for the representative pedon profile illustrated in figure 7. The SOC mass calculated for each horizon is assumed to be uniformly distributed. Therefore, the SOC mass for any horizon that overlaps a standard depth interval boundary is apportioned to the adjacent standard intervals in proportion to the fraction of the total horizon thickness in each standard interval. Using the example for MI_4 (fig. 7), 8 cm of the 10-cm-thick B2 horizon is in the 20 to 50 cm standard depth interval. Therefore, 8/10 (80 percent) of the SOC mass for that horizon is assigned to the 20 to 50 cm standard interval (see accompanying equation for the calculation of MI, fig. 7). Although potentially confusing, dual subscripting is used for the incremental SOC mass (MI) to avoid propagation of unnecessary variables. Horizon subscripts are used when MI is calculated for a soil horizon. Numeric subscripts are used when MI is calculated for a partial or complete soil layer or horizon within a standard depth interval as input to the cumulative-mass calculation for that standard interval. In both cases, the mass computations are the same, as described in equation (1).



Figure 9. Schematic showing the relation between STATSGO map units (*A*) and STATSGO map unit components (*B*) for Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina. Calculation of soil organic carbon (SOC) inventory for these counties is shown in *A*; calculation of SOC storage and inventory for map unit NC097 is shown in *B* and *C*.

SOC Inventory (Mass Per Total Area)

 $= cp_i / (100 - muw - mur)$

SOC inventory for each STATSGO/SSURGO map unit is computed as the area-weighted sum of the SOC storage values for all of the map-unit soil components (fig. 9B). The area weights for each soil component are computed on a total soil base, adjusted for the percentage of water and rock outcrop in the map unit, according to the equation

CW; where

> = area weight for the jth map-unit soil component CW.

- = percentage of total map-unit area occupied by cp_i the jth map-unit soil component
- muw = percentage of water in the map unit
- mur = percentage of rock outcrop in the map unit

The STATSGO/SSURGO database structure represents water bodies, areas of rock outcrop, and soil as separate map-unit components and assigns each of them areal percentages of the total map unit. Geographic distribution of rock outcrop is shown for Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina, in figure 10 (A, STATSGO; B, SSURGO). As an example, the soil base for the STATSGO map units shown in medium brown (10A) would be adjusted from 100 percent to somewhere between 90 and 95 percent (rock outcrop varies between 5 and 10 percent for these map units).

In the example in figure 9B, the area weight for "Soil 3" would be computed as follows: STATSGO map unit NC097 is 8 percent water and 16 percent rock outcrop. Soil 3 occupies 27 percent of the total map-unit area. Therefore, the area weight for Soil 3 is

 $cw_{Soil3} = 27\% / (100\% - 8\% - 16\%) = 0.36$

Soil 3 occupies 27 percent of the total map-unit area but 36 percent of the total soil area in the map unit. As indicated in figure 9B, the map-unit illustration presents a "generalized plan view" rather than the actual map-unit composition because there are no water components present in any of the STATSGO map units for Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina.

The equations for map-unit SOC storage (S) and inventory (I) are

$$S_{hh} = \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} cs_{j} * cw_{j}\right) / \sum_{j=1}^{n} cw_{j}$$
 (3b)

 \mathbf{I}_{hh} where

- S_{hh} map-unit SOC storage for the standard depth interval hh, in kilograms per square meter
- n = total number of components in the map unit

j = jth map-unit component

 $S_{hh} * ma$

SOC storage for the jth map-unit component, CS. = in kilograms per square meter (computed as the term MC, equation (2))

area weight for the jth map-unit component CW. =

map-unit SOC inventory for the standard I_{hh} = depth interval hh, in kilograms

total map-unit soil area, in square meters ma =

Calculation of SOC storage and inventory for the generalized STATSGO map unit NC097 is schematically shown in figure 9B and 9C). Values for $MC_{\mu\nu}$ (cumulative SOC mass for standard depth intervals, equation (2)) are used for the component storage (cs.); and, therefore, S and I assume the same subscripts, hh. Thus, map-unit storage and inventory are computed for the 0 to 10, 10 to 20, 20 to 50, and 50 to 100 cm intervals of soil and, by summation, for the 0 to 20, 0 to 50, and 0 to 100 cm intervals of soil. Three separate computations of S_{hh} and I_{hh} are made, the first based on SIR data (STATSGO layer tables), the second on MUIR data (SSURGO layer tables), and the third on S3C data. For the first two cases (SIR and MUIR data), MC_{hb} calculations are based on the available data for the matching component record in the STATSGO/SSURGO layer tables. This analysis is the intended use of the soil-attribution data as described in the user manuals distributed with the STATSGO and SSURGO databases (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 1994, 1995). When SOC storage values assigned to map-unit components are derived from pedon data, series-level median values of MC_{*bb*} are linked to the map units by component soil series.

Total SOC inventory for a larger geographic area such as a county, drainage basin, or the MRB is computed by summing the inventories of all of the map units in that area and then dividing the inventory sum by the sum of the area weights for all of the map units with data:

$$I_{\text{total}} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} I_k / \sum_{k=1}^{n} mw_k$$
(5)

wh

I,

n

(4)

(3a)

I_{total} = total SOC inventory for the area, in kilograms

SOC inventory for the kth map unit, in kilograms =

total number of map units in the area =

- k kth map unit =
- area weight for the kth map unit with data, mw, = calculated as the fraction of the total map area

The inventory adjustment for unsampled area accounts for "no-data" map units by applying the values for map areas with SOC data to those map areas with no SOC data. As an example, calculation of the STATSGO-based SOC inventory for Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina, is schematically shown in figure 9A.

In practice, I_{total} usually is converted to units of metric tons (1 metric ton = 1,000 kilograms), teragrams (1 Tg = 10^9 kilograms), or petagrams (1 Pg = 10^{12} kilograms) to make the numbers more "user-friendly" and scale-appropriate.



Figure 10. Percentage of rock outcrop in (A) STATSGO and (B) SSURGO map units, Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina.

Estimation of Missing Layer/Horizon Data

The calculation of mass accumulation in a soil profile requires consistent data for all of the layer or horizon intervals in the profile. However, much of the available pedon data have some missing values for total carbon/organic carbon/organic matter, bulk density, or particle size (percent sand, silt, and clay). If pedons with missing data are to be used in SOC calculations, these data gaps need to be resolved. Figures 2 and 4 (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2001d) show relatively complete data sets for a Dillsboro loam pedon sampled in Yancey County, western North Carolina, and a Cathedral sandy-loam pedon sampled in Fremont County, central Colorado. Bulk-density, particle-size, and organic-carbon data are present for most of the sampled horizons-the exceptions are no bulk-density measurements for the 2C horizon of the Dillsboro pedon or for the Oi and A1 horizons of the Cathedral pedon. Figure 3 (Reheis, 1987) shows a complete data set for an alluvial soil in Carbon County, Montana, that was not classed to series. Although the data set is complete in terms of data needed for SOC calculation, field-moist bulk density was measured rather than 1/3-bar or oven-dry bulk density. Figure 5 (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2001d) and figure

6 (Arkansas database; E.M. Rutledge, University of Arkansas, Fayetteville, Arkansas, unpub. data, received 2001) show more typical incomplete data sets for a Memphis silt-loam pedon sampled in the Loess Hills of southwestern Kentucky (Crittenden County) and a Gepp silt-loam pedon sampled in the Ozark Highlands of northeastern Arkansas (Randolph County). Particle-size and organic-carbon data are present for all the horizons, but no bulk-density measurements were made.

If no carbon measurement (organic carbon, organic matter, or total carbon) was made for a layer/horizon, then that data record was "deleted" from the analysis prior to calculation of SOC storage for the pseudo pedon (SIR/MUIR databases) or pedon (S3C database). In some instances, a layer/horizon was not sampled at all. Although organic carbon can be estimated by regression on other soil properties such as bulk density, particle size, and moisture content (Jobbágy and Jackson, 2000), this approach was not chosen because of the large errors typically associated with such regression models. Also, for layers/horizons that were not sampled or for which there were none of the requisite data, the regression approach could not be used. Because the result of deleting "no-carbon data" layer/horizon records is a discontinuous soil profile,

some method has to be selected to interpolate or "fill in" the gaps. In this study, linear mass interpolation of the SOC quantities in adjacent layers/horizons was chosen. There are three types of gap conditions associated with discontinuous profiles (fig. 7): (1) no data or sample for the surface layer/horizon, (2) no data or sample for an intermediate layer/horizon, and (3) no data for the basal layer/horizon. For profiles with type 1 gaps, the SOC value for the underlying layer/horizon is applied to the missing layer/horizon. Type 2 gaps have adjacent layers/horizons with SOC values. Therefore, in this case, a mass-weighted mean SOC value based on the values for the adjacent layers/horizons is applied to the missing layer/horizon (reference equation for the A2 horizon, lower left corner of fig. 7). In this study, type 3 gaps are not interpolated-no storage is assigned below the deepest layer/horizon with an SOC value.

When a layer/horizon record includes carbon data but no bulk-density data, then bulk-density values are estimated from statistical distributions of bulk-density measurements for combinations of empirical soil texture class and soil horizon (tables 1*A* and 1*B*). The empirical soil texture class is computed from the available particle-size data for total sand, silt, and clay (Soil Survey Staff, 1993; Schoeneberger and others, 1998). If particle-size data are not available, the field-texture class is used. Both of these topics are discussed in greater detail in the next section.

Bulk Density

Bulk density, the mass per unit volume of a substance, is a required measurement for the calculation of SOC storage from carbon-concentration data. However, bulk density is one of the more difficult soil properties to measure, is requested less often when samples are submitted for characterization, and, therefore, is more likely to be missing from pedon records. The three most widely used methods for measuring bulk density are made across a decreasing range of soil moisture content from (1) field-moist (the natural condition of the soil when sampled) to (2) 1/3-bar (sample desorbed to 1/3-bar tension moisture content, weighed, oven-dried at 105 degrees Celsius (°C), and then weighed again) to (3) ovendry (sample oven-dried at 105 °C and then weighed) (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 1996). For a given volume of intact soil, the field-moist bulk-density measurement provides the closest approximation to the actual mass of soil at the time of sampling. However, 1/3-bar measurements are used in this study as an approximation of the field condition because these measurements are made at a consistent and operationally defined moisture content and, therefore, provide data suitable for regional comparisons. SOC storage and inventory data for pedon records used in this study are based on 1/3-bar bulkdensity measurements. SOC storage and inventory estimates based on oven-dry bulk-density values would be biased high because the oven-dry determination is based on the oven-dry volume of the sample rather than the 1/3-bar equilibrated volume (based on a comparison of the values in tables 1A and

1*B*). SOC storage calculations for the layer records in the SIR and MUIR databases are based on "moist bulk density." It is not clear from the documentation for STATSGO and SSURGO whether this measure relates to a field-moist or 1/3-bar moisture content. In this report, the assumption is made that the STATSGO/SSURGO bulk-density data are equivalent to 1/3-bar bulk density.

Horizon records with missing bulk-density values were assigned values based on the statistical distributions of bulk density by texture class and horizon. This method incorporates the variation of bulk density with clay and organic-matter content (fig. 11) and also with texture class and soil horizon (tables 1A and 1B). Tables 1A and 1B present the median bulk-density values for mineral soils at 1/3-bar tension (table 1A) and oven-dry (table 1B) moisture content for the standard USDA soil texture classes and selected USDA soil horizons. 1/3-bar bulk-density values decrease from sandy to clayey soils and generally are higher for B horizons than for A or C horizons. Oven-dry bulk-density values are higher than 1/3-bar values for sandy and clayey soils. Oven-dry clays have the highest values. The B-horizon "bulge" is less evident with oven-dry values than with 1/3-bar values-the oven-dry values generally do not decrease going from B horizons to C horizons. Both 1/3-bar and oven-dry bulk-density values are higher for plow layers (Ap horizons) than for undisturbed A horizons.

Figure 11 shows the relations among 1/3-bar bulk density and clay (column 1), 1/3-bar bulk density and organic carbon (column 2), and organic carbon and clay (column 3), for selected groups of A and E horizons. Empirical trends in the data (11*A* and 11*B*; Schumacher and others, 1988; Pettry and Switzer, 1999; U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2001d; University of Illinois, 2001) show that bulk density increases with increasing clay content and decreases with increasing organiccarbon content. Clay and organic carbon have opposite effects on soil bulk density and generally vary inversely (fig. 11*A* and *B*, column 3). *A* shows data for A and E horizons in the S3C database with a 15-bar water content of 10–12 percent; *B*, 18–20 percent. The wetter soils (*B*) have somewhat higher clay and organic-carbon contents.

Exceptions to these general trends are shown in 11C, D, and E. C (Bowman and Petersen, 1996; U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2001d) and D (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2001d; Kansas State University, 2002) show data for soil series in the Central Great Plains region of the United States, and E for Sharkey series clays in the Mississippi River alluvial valley (Schumacher and others, 1988; Pettry and Switzer, 1999; E.M. Rutledge, University of Arkansas, Fayetteville, Arkansas, unpub. data, received 2001; U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2001d). For the native shortgrass prairie soils depicted in 11C, bulk density decreases slightly as both clay and organic-carbon content increase, and there is a positive association between clay and organic carbon. There is no apparent relation between either clay and bulk density or clay and organic carbon for the native tallgrass prairie soils at the Konza Prairie Long-Term Ecological Research (LTER) Site

oil texture classes by soil		
Department of Agriculture :		
content for the standard U.S.		211 complete comparison to the 110
: 1/3-bar tension moisture c		In Medicae man accurated for
s of mineral soils at		and data arreitat
4. Median bulk densities		II C Department of A animiter
Table 1≠	horizon.	TUCUT

[USDA, U.S. Department of Agriculture; ----, no data available. Medians were computed for soil samples submitted to the USDA National Soil Survey Center, Soil Characterization Laboratory, Lincoln, Nebraska, for physical and chemical characterization (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2001d). Numbers in square brackets represent the number of samples for each combination of texture class and horizon. Cells are color-shaded to show patterns in the variation of bulk density with changes in texture and depth in the soil profile.]

	Clay	1.2 [63]	1.2 [33]	1.3 [27]	1.3 [15]	1.4 [1]	1.4 [604]	1.3 [291]	1.4 [108]	1.3 [217]	1.3 [16]	
	Silty clay	1.3 [98]	1.3 [71]	1.3 [53]	1.3 [14]	1.4 [9]	1.4 [774]	1.4 [206]	1.4 [107]	1.4 [163]	1.5 [63]	
	Sandy clay	I	I	I	Ι	Ι	1.5 [20]	1.6 [1]	1.4 [2]	1.4 [3]	I	
	Clay Ioam	1.2 [84]	1.4 [91]	1.4 [77]	1.3 [35]	1.5 [20]	1.4 [850]	1.5 [245]	1.5 [160]	1.5 [267]	1.5 [14]	
: millimeters) ¹	Silty clay loam	1.3 [225]	1.4 [272]	1.4 [192]	1.3 [60]	1.5 [41]	1.4 [1217]	1.4 [353]	1.4 [261]	1.4 [287]	1.7 [33]	
rth fraction, < 2	Sandy clay loam	1.2 [31]	1.5 [10]	1.4 [21]	1.4 [16]	1.7 [11]	1.5 [337]	1.4 [57]	1.5 [55]	1.5 [70]	1.5 [14]	
class (fine-ea	Silt	1.3 [4]	1.5 [28]	1.4 [1]	1.5 [6]	1.6 [2]	1.4 [3]	1.4 [4]	1.5 [7]	1.5 [26]	I	
USDA texture	Silt Ioam	1.3 [335]	1.4 [756]	1.4 [170]	1.5 [322]	1.5 [111]	1.5 [537]	1.4 [358]	1.4 [187]	1.4 [517]	1.8 [39]	
	Loam	1.3 [321]	1.5 [244]	1.4 [112]	1.4 [117]	1.6 [49]	1.5 [536]	1.4 [366]	1.6 [199]	1.6 [448]	1.5 [25]	
	Sandy Ioam	1.4 [369]	1.5 [218]	1.5 [125]	1.5 [223]	1.7 [124]	1.6 [508]	1.5 [556]	1.6 [241]	1.6 [700]	1.7 [95]	
	Loamy sand	1.5 [20]	1.6 [7]	1.6 [13]	1.6 [5]	1.7 [3]	1.6 [49]	1.5 [23]	1.6 [23]	1.6 [84]	1.7 [13]	
	Sand	1.4 [1]		1.5 [1]		Ι	1.6 [3]	1.7 [1]	1.7 [3]	1.6 [8]		
USDA	soil horizon¹,²	Α	Ap	AB, BA	Е	EB, BE	Bt	В	BC	C	Cr	

¹USDA soil-horizon nomenclature and soil-texture classes are described in Schoeneberger and others, 1998.

²Soil horizons generally are presented in the order of occurrence in the depth profile (Schoeneberger and others, 1998). No data are presented for the AE, EA, AC, or CA transitional horizons, as they are poorly represented in the database across all texture classes, or for any horizon with either cementation ("m" suffix) or fragipan characteristics ("x" suffix). Table 1B. Median bulk-densities of mineral soils at oven-dry (105 degrees Celsius) moisture content for the standard U.S. Department of Agriculture soil texture classes by soil horizon.

[USDA, U.S. Department of Agriculture; ---, no data available. Medians were computed for soil samples submitted to the USDA National Soil Survey Center, Soil Characterization Laboratory, Lincoln, Nebraska, for physical and chemical characterization (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2001d). Numbers in square brackets represent the number of samples for each combination of texture class and horizon. Cells are color-shaded to show patterns in the variation of bulk density with changes in texture and depth in the soil profile.]

DA		1			JSDA texture	e class (fine-e	earth fraction	ı, <2 millimete	ILS)1			
oil con ^{1,2}	Sand	Loamy sand	Sandy Ioam	Loam	Silt Ioam	Silt	Sandy clay loam	Silty clay loam	Clay Ioam	Sandy clay	Silty clay	Clay
	1.4 [1]	1.5 [25]	1.5 [393]	1.4 [338]	1.4 [361]	1.3 [4]	1.4 [31]	1.5 [246]	1.4 [86]		1.6 [105]	1.7 [66]
ď	,	1.7 [8]	1.6 [228]	1.6 [255]	1.5 [802]	1.5 [46]	1.6 [10]	1.6 [293]	1.6 [93]	I	1.7 [75]	1.7 [35]
۲ d	11121	1 6 1141	1 6 11 2	10011 2 1	1 5 1001	1 1 [0]	1 5 111	10101	1 6 1941		1031 2-1	
	[1] (1]	1 5 [2]	[//1] 0.1		[202] C.1	1.4 [4]	[17] C''I	[617] O'I	1.0 [0+]		[20] /.1 1 6 [17]	1 7 [16]
BE		1.7 [3]	1.0 [272]	1.7 [52]	[000] C.1	1.6 [2] 1.6	[01] C.1 [1.8 [12]	[20] C.1 [41]	[cc] c.1 1.8 [20]		1.7 [9]	1.7 [1]
t	1.7 [3]	1.7 [51]	1.7 [519]	1.7 [539]	1.6 [556]	1.4 [3]	1.7 [340]	1.7 [1232]	1.7 [852]	1.6 [20]	1.8 [793]	1.7 [606]
~	1.8 [1]	1.6 [25]	1.6 [573]	1.5 [390]	1.5 [420]	1.4 [6]	1.6 [68]	1.6 [416]	1.6 [281]	1.8 [1]	1.8 [231]	1.8 [307]
U	1.7 [3]	1.7 [27]	1.7 [260]	1.7 [216]	1.6 [223]	1.5 [7]	1.7 [58]	1.7 [285]	1.7 [170]	1.4 [2]	1.8 [121]	1.7 [111]
(۲	1.7 [10]	1.7 [91]	1.6 [759]	1.7 [475]	1.5 [583]	1.5 [31]	1.7 [76]	1.6 [308]	1.7 [279]	1.6 [3]	1.8 [190]	1.7 [231]
ц	I	1.8 [14]	1.7 [97]	1.6 [28]	1.9 [39]	I	1.7 [14]	1.9 [34]	1.7 [14]	ļ	1.8 [63]	1.6 [16]

¹USDA soil-horizon nomenclature and soil-texture classes are described in Schoeneberger and others, 1998.

²Soil horizons generally are presented in the order of occurrence in the depth profile (Schoeneberger and others, 1998). No data are presented for the AE, EA, AC, or CA transitional horizons, as they are poorly represented in the database across all texture classes, or for any horizon with either cementation ("m" suffix) or fragipan characteristics ("x" suffix).



Figure 11. Relations among soil bulk density (samples equilibrated to 1/3-bar (0.033 Mpa) tension moisture content), organic carbon, and clay for selected A and E horizons of soils in the Mississippi River Basin. *A* and *B*, Schumacher and others, 1988; Pettry and Switzer, 1999; U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2001d; University of Illinois, 2001. *C*, Bowman and Petersen, 1996; U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2001d. *D*, U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2001d; Kansas State University, 2002. *E*, Schumacher and others, 1988; E.M. Rutledge, University of Arkansas, Fayetteville, Arkansas, unpub. data, received 2001; Pettry and Switzer, 1999; U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2001d. Open symbols—S3C database; solid red symbols—Bowman and Petersen, 1996 (*C*); Pettry and Switzer, 1999 (*E*).

in eastern Kansas (*D*). However, as with A-C, bulk density decreases with increasing organic-carbon content. The Sharkey clays (*E*) show trends similar to those depicted in *C*—slight decreases in bulk density with increasing clay and organic carbon content and an apparent positive association between clay and organic carbon.

The data shown in C-E are much smaller subsets of data than those used for A-B because they were selected to represent soils formed under similar environmental conditions native shortgrass prairie (C), native tallgrass prairie (D), and cultivated/native Sharkey clay (E). The apparent exceptions to the effects of clay and organic carbon on soil bulk density may be real or, possibly, artifacts of smaller sample sizes. However, the large variance in all of the scatterplots shown in figure 11 illustrates the problems encountered in predicting bulk density from other soil properties.

Horizon records with missing bulk-density values were assigned the median values for combinations of texture class and soil horizon (tables 1*A* and 1*B*) to minimize the bias associated with variable data coverage. Most of the available pedon data typically are biased toward more productive agricultural soils, and, therefore, texture classes such as sand, loamy sand, and sandy clay are underrepresented in the data. Also, there are some combinations of texture class and horizon that occur less frequently than others. With sample sizes less than or equal to 10, the confidence intervals for the 25th and 75th percentiles (which define the interquartile range of a distribution) will overlap the confidence intervals for the 50th percentile (median)—in other words, the boundaries of the interquartile range are not significantly different from the median (Helsel and Hirsch, 1992).

As STATSGO/SSURGO records have a layer-based, rather than horizon-based, data structure, layer records with missing bulk-density values were assigned the median values of bulk-density distributions by texture class only. Bulk-density and particle-size data (used to estimate empirical texture class) from the SIR/MUIR databases were used to estimate missing bulk-density values in STATSGO/SSURGO layer records.

Empirical Soil Texture Class

The empirical soil texture classes and subclasses for each pedon horizon were computed from the percentages of sand, silt, and clay according to the definitions given in the U.S. Department of Agriculture Handbook 18 (Soil Survey Staff, 1993). Where particle-size data were available, the empirical texture classes were used to group the data (rather than field-determined texture classes) to provide a more consistent approach to estimating bulk density. Although subclasses for the sands, loamy sands, and sandy loams were determined, only the classes were used in the analysis.

Soil Horizon Groupings

Soil horizon groupings used to determine bulk-density values for pedon horizon records with missing data are based on the current master and transitional soil horizons and, to a lesser extent, the horizon suffixes (Schoeneberger and others, 1998). A level of generalization was chosen so that sufficient detail was maintained in the horizon designations to reproduce the typical variation in bulk density with depth. The following groupings of master/transitional horizons and horizon suffixes were used in the analysis of bulk density by horizon (bulk-density data for the more commonly occurring groupings are shown in bold and presented in tables 1*A* and 1*B*):

organic horizons-Oa, Oe, Oi, Op, Oae, Oei

solum horizons—A, Ap, E, AE, AB, AC, EC, B, Bt, EB, BE, and BC

parent-material-C and Cr

dominant horizon suffixes-m and x

For transitional horizons such as the Oei, AB, or BE horizons, dominance was ignored. Thus, the AB grouping includes all combinations of A and B horizons—AB (A dominant with some B characteristics), A/B (discrete, intermingled A and B, mostly A), BA (B dominant with some A characteristics), and B/A (discrete, intermingled A and B, mostly B). Numerical prefixes (lithologic discontinuities), numerical suffixes (master-horizon subdivisions), and primes (horizon suffix denoting multiple occurrences of identical horizons) also were ignored—for example, B, 2B, 2B2, and B' are all included in the B grouping. All horizons with strong cementation ("m" horizon suffix) were grouped together because of the dominant effect cementation has on bulk density, and all fragic horizons ("x" horizon suffix) were similarly grouped.

Interpolation of Missing Data

Soil-carbon maps based on linkage of data to STATSGO/ SSURGO map units predictably will have "no-data" areas, both at the level of the map unit and at smaller scales (larger land areas), such as counties or river basins. These "spatial data gaps" result from a lack of data for some or all of the component series in some soil map units and, to avoid underestimation of carbon mass, must somehow be accounted for in calculations of SOC inventory. In this study, the unsampled areas of each map unit or larger land area were assumed to be "represented" by the sampled areas. Area weights for the sampled components in each map unit were used to apportion SOC storage to the unsampled portion of the map unit according to equation (3b). If entire map units were unsampled, area weights for the sampled map units in a larger land area were similarly used to apportion SOC inventory to the unsampled portion of the land area according to equation (5). The errors produced by this approach increase both with more unsampled area and more spatial heterogeneity in soil properties, particularly organic matter and bulk density.

Results and Discussion

The presentation of material in the preceding sections of this report has focused entirely on data collection and management and calculation methods for the estimation of carbon storage and inventory. Although this report is not interpretive, results for selected geographic areas are presented and discussed from an interpretive perspective, as the geographic interpretation of soil-carbon data provides a good framework for evaluating strengths and weaknesses associated with different soil-carbon data sources.

SOC Storage and Inventory for the MRB

SOC storage and inventory for the surface meter of mineral soil were calculated and mapped for the six USGS hydrologic regions in the MRB (fig. 12, tables 2 and 3) by using the linkage of soil pedon data to STATSGO map units. The linkage was based on the 50th percentile of SOC storage for each soil series to generate a "series-typical" soil-carbon map. Organic horizons of mineral soils were excluded because of insufficient data, and, because the geographic extents of "native" versus "disturbed" (such as eroded or mined), areas have not been delineated for soil series that would have developed organic surface horizons under predevelopment conditions.

At the MRB scale, the pedon-to-STATSGO data linkage results in from 95 to 98 percent of the geographic area by region being mapped (table 2). For example, STATSGO map units that have partial or complete representation by soil-carbon data account for 97 percent of the 410,700 km² in the Ohio River Basin (region 05) and 98 percent of the 1,301,000 km² in the Missouri River Basin (region 10). A STATSGO map unit is considered to be "represented by data" if at least one of the component soil series has available pedon data. As each mapunit component is assigned a percentage of the total map-unit area, the sum of these percentages for all the components with pedon data gives the total percentage of the map unit that is represented by data. Although the level of MRB geographic coverage is 95 percent or higher, the data coverage for individual map-units is much lower. With the exception of the Lower Mississippi Basin, the 50th percentile for the percent of map-unit area represented by data ranges from 71 to 77 percent (table 2). For example, half of the 2,169 STATSGO map units in the Ohio River Basin have 75 percent or more of the mapunit area represented by data. This percentile is 95 percent for the Lower Mississippi Basin, largely because of the pedon data

available from the Arkansas and Louisiana databases (E.M. Rutledge, University of Arkansas, Fayetteville, Arkansas, unpub. data, received 2001; Schumacher and others, 1988).

SOC storage for mineral soils within the MRB varies by hydrologic region from 7.1 kg/m² in the Tennessee River Basin to 12.5 kg/m² in the Upper Mississippi Basin (table 3, 50th percentile) and SOC inventory from 752 Tg in the Tennessee River Basin to 13,900 Tg in the Missouri River Basin. The basinwide mean SOC storage for the MRB is approximately 10.0 kg/m², and the total SOC inventory for the MRB is 32,300 Tg (32.3 Pg). Recent estimates of global SOC inventory for mineral soils (surface meter only) range from 1,115 Pg (Adams and others, 1990) to 1,219 Pg (Eswaran and others, 1993), which would place the MRB inventory somewhere between 2.7 and 2.9 percent of the global mineral-soil SOC pool. The MRB coonstitutes approximately 2.6 percent of the global land area.

One of the strengths of the pedon-to-STATSGO data linkage as an approach to carbon-inventory assessment is the potential availability of pedon data. The more data that are available for a given soil series, the better the characterization of individual map-unit components. However, in its present state, the S3C database is highly skewed—46 percent of the 2,581 series for which SOC storage in the surface meter of soil could be calculated are represented by 1 pedon, 12 percent by 5 or more pedons, and only 5 percent by 10 or more pedons.

Given the high series-level spatial variability in soil organic matter and, to a lesser extent, bulk density, SOC values based on a small number of pedons ($n \le 5$) may not be representative of that series. For example, if 100 pedons were sampled at sites statistically located to represent a Grenada silt loam in northwestern Mississippi, an SOC value based on these samples could be quite different from an SOC value based on only 4 or 5 pedons. A 5-pedon median could, for example, be biased to the 25th or 75th percentile of a distribution based on 100 pedons selected to spatially represent the Grenada series. The effects of sample size and bias on pedon-based estimates of SOC storage and inventory can be semiquantitatively described by looking at the interquartile (from 25th to 75th percentile) ranges of these estimates-from 8.6 to 11.7 kg/m² for MRB storage and from 27.7 to 37.6 Pg for MRB inventory (table 3). With variable sample sizes and unknown bias, the interquartile range provides a probable window for the "actual" median SOC storage and inventory.

Geographic Patterns in SOC Storage

Geographic variation in SOC storage for mineral soils within the MRB is shown in figure 12. Regionally, higher storage values occur in the formerly glaciated areas of southern Minnesota and northwestern Iowa, the loess-derived soils of the Upper Midwest (eastern Iowa, northern Illinois and



Figure 12. Soil organic carbon (SOC) storage estimates, depth interval from 0 to 100 centimeters, for mineral soils in the Mississippi River Basin. Storage estimated by linking site-specific data for 7,321 pedons (representing 2,581 soil series) to STATSGO map units. USGS hydrologic regions (Seaber and others, 1994) named by region number are shown in figure 1. The three-county area outlined in Minnesota and the two-county area outlined in North Carolina are shown in figures 13 and 14 (Minnesota) and figures 15 and 16 (North Carolina). SOC storage and inventory estimates for county areas (mapped areas of counties shown in gray) outlined in Colorado, Minnesota, and North Carolina are given in table 4.

Indiana, and west-central Ohio), and the eastern portion of the Central Great Plains (eastern Nebraska/Kansas). SOC storage values in these areas typically range from 10 to 24 kg/m². The highest SOC storage values are more limited in geographic extent and are associated with depressional wetlands in southern Minnesota (from 32 to 40 kg/m²), coastal marshes in southern Louisiana (from 32 to 40 kg/m²), and high-elevation montane forests in the northern Rocky Mountains (from 24 to 32 kg/m², Montana and Wyoming).

Geomorphic controls of geographic patterns in SOC storage are evident in comparisons between erosional and depositional environments within the MRB. Alluvial soils, in particular, stand out as areas of both higher and lower carbon storage than the adjacent uplands. Soils formed in alluvium along tributaries to the Missouri River in eastern Nebraska and western Iowa and along tributaries to the Platte River in central Nebraska have higher carbon storage than the adjacent upland soils. This pattern also holds for many of the floodplains along the larger rivers in the MRB, such as the Mississippi, Missouri, and Ohio. Although less common, there are exceptions to this pattern. Alluvial soils along the Platte River in eastern Nebraska, the Missouri River in northwestern Missouri, and along the small streams draining the Des Moines Lobe in northwestern Iowa have lower carbon storage than do the adjacent upland soils.

STATSGO/SSURGO Regional Comparisons

SOC maps for selected county areas within the MRB (figs. 13–16) and comparative estimates of SOC storage and inventory (table 4) were produced by linking aggregate and site-specific soil-carbon data to both STATSGO and SSURGO to examine the effects of data source and map scale on the variability in estimates of SOC storage and inventory. The SOC maps were produced by using pedon-to-STATSGO (PDSG) and pedon-to-SSURGO (PDSS) data linkages (50th percentile). Storage/inventory estimates presented in table 4 are based on the PDSG and PDSS linkages (25th, 50th,

Table 2. U.S. Department of Agriculture STATSGO map units with and without site-specific, series-level soil organic carbon data for the U.S. Geological Survey hydro-

logic regions in the Mississippi River Basin. [USDA, U.S. Department of Agriculture; USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; STATSGO, State Soil Geographic Database (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2001a);

MRB, Mississippi River Basin; SOC, soil organic carbon; km², square kilometers]

			STAT:	SGO map units² 1	with SOC d	ata³		STAT	SGO map units SOC data ³	s without	STATSGO IT representir water b	iap units ig major odies
SSSU SSSU	SOSU	Number	Percent	Total	Perce rep (based o	ent of map- oresented b n indicated	unit area y data percentile) ⁴	Number	Percent	Total	Number	Percent
hydrologic region ¹	hydrologic unit code ¹	of map units	of region	area (km²)	25th	50th	75th	of map units	of region	area (km²)	of map units	of region
Ohio	05	2,169	67	410,700	49	75	92	40	2	8,774	-	LL
Tennessee	90	753	98	103,400	45	73	88	1	$\overline{\nabla}$	3	7	40
Upper Mississippi	07	2,285	98	480,800	46	71	89	40	1	4,888	1	114
Lower Mississippi	08	1,451	95	249,900	69	95	100	28	3	6,875	7	72
Missouri	10	6,085	98	1,301,000	50	LL	94	89	1	12,660	1	189
Arkansas-White-Red	11	2,712	96	614,300	46	75	94	125	3	27,650	1	110
MRB	I	15,455	67	3,221,000	50	LL	95	323	2	60,850	1	602
¹ USGS hydrologic regions cor others, 1994). Regions 05-08, 10	respond to the 1), and 11 are sh	najor river o own in figur	Irainage basins es 1 and 12.	s in the United S	tates and a	re identifie	l by the first tw	o digits of ar	ı 8-digit hydro	logic unit code (S	seaber and	
² A STATSGO map unit is a ge taxonomy such as suborder or gr	ographic associ eat group, or nc	ation of soil n-soil natur	ls. Each map u al and anthrop	ogenic landscap	up 21 map- e features s	unit compo tuch as roch	onents that corr coutcrop, wate	espond to est r, pits, or urb	ablished USD an land. Map-	A soil series, a hi unit components	gher level of soil are assigned	
percentages of the total map-unit	area. 1ne map	-unit deline:	allons were co		nn,ucz:1 c	J-scale base	e maps belore c	inguizing ior	use in a geogr	apnic information	i system.	

³Map units with SOC data are those map units for which site-specific series-level SOC data were available for at least one of the map-unit component soil series. Map units without SOC data had no series-level data available for any of the component series.

(1st-to-25th percentile range); 25 percent, from 49 to 75 percent of the map area represented (25th-to-50th percentile range); 25 percent, from 75 to 92 percent (50th-to-75th percentile range); ⁴For example, in the Ohio region, 25 percent of the 2,169 map units with SOC data had less than 49 percent of the map-unit area represented by components with series-level SOC data and 25 percent, greater than 92 percent (75th-to-100th percentile range). Table 3. Soil organic carbon storage and inventory for the surface meter of mineral soil for the U.S. Geological Survey hydrologic regions and region subbasins in the Mississippi River Basin. U.S. Geological Survey; USDA, U.S. Department of Agriculture; STATSGO, State Soil Geographic Database (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2001a); MRB, Mississippi River Basin; Tg, teragram (1 teragram = 10¹² grams, 1,000,000 metric tons); kg, kilogram; kg/m², kilograms per square meter; SOC, soil organic carbon. SOC storage and inventory numbers are based on site-specific soil-carbon data linked by soil series to USDA STATSGO map units (see Calculations section in Methods section). N, number of subbasins (hydrologic subregions, accounting units, or cataloging units) in each hydrologic region (Seaber and others, 1994)]

USGS hydrologic region'	Sı (base p	OC storage d on indic: ercentile, ³	ated	SO (base p)C inventor ad on indic ercentile, ³	y² ated		Median	SOC storage a subregio (based o	and 10th-1 on, accou on 50th pe	o-90th perc inting unit, a rcentile for kg/m²)	entile range l and catalogin r individual ba	oy USGS g unit sins,⁴	hy drologic	
(see table 2, fice 1 and 12)		kg/m²)			(6)			Subregion	-	A	ccounting u	unit'	3	ataloging u	nit'
	25th	50th	75th	25th	50th	75th	z	Median	Range	z	Median	Range	z	Median	Range
Ohio	7.8	9.3	11.3	3,300	3,910	4,760	14	9.1	7.7-10.8	21	8.9	7.6–10.8	120	8.9	7.2–11.7
Tennessee	6.1	7.1	8.5	644	752	896	4	6.9	s.	5	8.0	ν, L	32	6.9	5.3-11.4
Upper Mississippi	10.8	12.5	14.6	5,290	6,140	7,160	14	10.7	8.2–16.4	17	10.8	7.4–16.4	131	11.8	7.2–18.6
Lower Mississippi	5.9	8.5	11.2	1,550	2,240	2,950	6	7.4	s.	22	7.9	6.7-14.3	82	7.3	4.9-11.9
Missouri	9.2	10.5	11.9	12,200	13,900	15,800	30	10.5	7.3–15.0	44	10.5	7.5–15.5	310	6.6	6.9–15.6
Arkansas-White-Red	7.4	8.3	9.4	4,730	5,350	6,060	14	7.9	6.3-10.2	25	7.5	6.7-10.2	173	7.8	5.9v11.8
MRB	8.6	10.0	11.7	27,700	32,300	37,600	85	9.1	6.9–15.0	134	8.9	6.9-14.8	848	0.6	6.3-15.7
¹ The number of subbasins accounting unit, 6-digit HUC	reported i	n each colt ng unit, 8-6	umn is the digit HUC	total numb). Hydrolog	ber of hydra gic regions	ologic units s, subregion	at each l s, accour	evel of subd nting units, c	livision of the ataloging uni	hydrolog ts, and th	iic region (s e HUC sche	subregion, 4-d ema are define	igit hydro ed in Seal	ologic unit ber and oth	code, HUC; ers, 1994.

³Percentiles on which SOC storage and inventory estimates are based were computed from the sample distributions of pedons within the Mississippi River Basin (n = 7,321) grouped by soil Storage, mass per unit area to indicated depth (in this table, kilograms per square meter to a depth of 1 meter). Inventory, mass per total area to indicated depth (in this table, teragrams per each basin).

series (n = 2,581).

⁴Because of the high level of skewness in the pedon data grouped by soil series (46 percent of the 2,581 series for which SOC storage in the surface meter could be calculated were represented by one pedon), the median value was selected for estimates by subbasin.

⁵Tenth and 90th percentiles were not computed for sample sizes less than 10.

and 75th percentiles) and, additionally, on STATSGO-to-STATSGO (SGSG) and SSURGO-to-SSURGO (SSSS) linkages (50th percentile).

Four county areas—representing different physiographic, geomorphic, and ecological settings —were selected for comparison (figs. 1 and 12):

- 1. Portions of Boulder, Larimer, and Weld Counties, Colorado — The eastern half of Boulder County, the eastern two-thirds of Larimer County, and the northern half of Weld County are included in the USDA SSURGO database (shaded area in Colorado county inset, figs. 1 and 12). The eastern two-thirds of this area (eastern Boulder and eastern Larimer Counties and northern Weld County) is located in the Colorado Piedmont and High Plains sections of the Central Great Plains physiographic province (Fenneman, 1931). Native vegetation is predominantly shortgrass prairie-buffalo grass, grama, wheatgrass, and needlegrass; shrubs-sagebrush and rabbitbrush; and scattered trees (Central High Plains ecoregion; Bailey and Cushwa, 1981; Bailey, 1995). The western third (central Boulder and central Larimer Counties) is located in the Southern Rocky Mountains physiographic province (Fenneman, 1931). Vegetation zones in this area, largely defined by an east-to-west increase in elevation and moisture, transition from grassland to woodland (ponderosa pine, pinyon-juniper association, or scrub oak) to montane (ponderosa pine on lower, drier slopes and Douglas fir on higher, wetter slopes) to subalpine (Engelmann spruce and subalpine fir) to alpine tundra (Northern Parks and Ranges ecoregion; Bailey and Cushwa, 1981; Bailey, 1995).
- 2. Nicollet, Renville, and Sibley Counties, Minnesota — All three counties are in the Western Lake section of the Central Lowland physiographic province (Fenneman, 1938). Nicollet, Renville, and all but the far northeastern portion of Sibley County are in the North Central Glaciated Plains ecoregion (Bailey and Cushwa, 1981). Native vegetation is characterized by mixed deciduous forest (dominated by oak and hickory) and tallgrass prairie (big and little bluestem, switchgrass, and Indian grass; Bailey, 1995). Northeastern Sibley County is in the Morainal-Oak Savannah ecoregion (Bailey and Cushwa, 1981) with native vegetation dominated by oak-hickory forest with interspersed maple and basswood (Bailey, 1995).
- 3. Leflore County, Mississippi Leflore County is located in the east-central portion of the Mississippi Alluvial Plain section of the Coastal Plain physiographic province (Fenneman, 1938). The Mississippi Alluvial Plain is almost coincident with the Mississippi Alluvial Basin ecoregion (Bailey and Cushwa, 1981). Native vegetation in this ecoregion is bottomland deciduous forest (green and Carolina ash, elm, cottonwood, sugarberry,

sweetgum, water tupelo, oak, and bald cypress; Bailey, 1995). Much of this area, with the exception of isolated wetlands and catfish ponds, is now cultivated for soybeans, cotton, mixed row crops, and small grains or seasonally flooded for rice production.

4. Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina — The Mitchell-Yancey county area is located in the Southern Blue Ridge physiographic province (Fenneman, 1938) or the Blue Ridge Mountains ecoregion (Bailey and Cushwa, 1981). As with the Colorado counties, vegetation patterns are defined by vertical zonation related to changes in temperature and moisture with elevation. Coves and valleys are dominated by mixed oak-pine forest at lower elevations and oak forest at mid-elevations. At higher elevations, oaks are replaced by northeastern forest species (birch, beech, maple, elm, red oak, basswood, hemlock, and white pine). The highest elevation ridges and peaks are predominantly spruce-fir forest and meadows (Bailey, 1995).

Scale-related differences in the modeled geographic distribution and relative quantity of soil carbon are discussed by using selected Minnesota and North Carolina counties as examples. All spatial data sets have intrinsic scales that relate to sampling density and generally can be abstracted to smaller scales. For example, are the regional patterns for a larger geographic area, as depicted by SSURGO, similar to those depicted by STATSGO? It is shown that the smallscale (1:250,000) regional distribution of soil carbon depicted by mapping SOC data to STATSGO is comparable to that produced by mapping the same data to SSURGO, at least for county-sized land areas. The large-scale (from 1:12,000 to 1:63,360) differences in soil-carbon distribution are shown to be primarily associated with differences between the two databases in map-unit size and composition-SSURGO map units are much smaller in area than STATSGO map units, have no more than three components, and typically have only one or two components. SSURGO can be viewed as a close approximation to a series-level database.

Minnesota

The STATSGO-based (fig. 13) and SSURGO-based (fig. 14) SOC storage maps for Nicollet, Renville, and Sibley Counties show similar geographic patterns at the STATSGO scale but markedly different patterns at the SSURGO scale. On a county-wide basis, storage/inventory values based on the PDSG linkage are comparable to those values based on the PDSS linkage—19 kg/m² storage, 100 Tg inventory, PDSG linkage; 20 kg/m² and 106 Tg, PDSS linkage (table 4). Based on the PDSG data linkage (fig. 13*A*), soils in the upland areas of all three counties have SOC storage values ranging from 16 to 24 kg/m². Alluvial soils along the Minnesota River in Renville and western Nicollet Counties have higher SOC storage (from 24 to 32 kg/m², fig. 13*A* and 13*B*) than those in the adjacent uplands, whereas the soils along the Minnesota River in eastern Nicollet and Sibley



Figure 13. (*A*) Soil organic carbon (SOC) storage, depth interval from 0 to 100 centimeters, for mineral soils in Nicollet, Renville, and Sibley Counties, Minnesota. Storage estimated for site-specific data linked to STATSGO map units. Data are for soils classed to the series level. (*B*) Area outlined in *A* showing relatively high SOC storage values for map units along the Minnesota River.

Counties and surrounding Middle and Swan Lakes in Nicollet County have lower SOC storage (from 10 to 16 kg/m^2 , fig. 13A) than those in the adjacent uplands.

By comparison, the PDSS data linkage produces a map with comparable SOC storage values (from 16 to 24 kg/m²) for all but the northwestern section of Renville County but with different large-scale patterns and some smaller scale regional differences (fig. 14*A*). Alluvial soils located along the Minnesota River in Nicollet and Sibley Counties are similarly mapped with lower storage values (from 10 to 16 kg/m²) than those assigned to the adjacent uplands. However, many of the alluvial SSURGO map units for near-channel portions of the Minnesota River flood plain have no pedon data for any of the component series (shown in fig. 14*A*, and in greater detail in 14*C*); these areas appear white on the map. Numerous small wetlands located in closed and poorly drained depressions have storage values from 32 to 40 kg/m². The part of Renville County north and west of the East Fork Beaver Creek tributary to the Minnesota River has much higher SOC storage when pedon data are linked to SSURGO map units than when linked to STATSGO map units. Based on linkage to SSURGO, SOC storage in this area varies from 32 to 52 kg/m² (fig. 14*A*). When pedon data are linked to STATSGO, SOC storage varies from 16 to 24 kg/m² (fig. 13*A*).



Figure 14. (*A*) Soil organic carbon (SOC) storage, depth interval from 0 to 100 centimeters, for mineral soils in Nicollet, Renville, and Sibley Counties, Minnesota. Storage was estimated by linking site-specific data to SSURGO map units. Data are for soils classed to the series level. Generally, areas with SOC storage values >40 kilograms per square meter (kg/m²) are associated with poorly drained, closed depressions. (*B*) Area outlined in A, area near a north-south-trending stream channel in Renville County. (*C*) Area outlined in A that includes parts of Nicollet, Renville, and Sibley Counties.

North Carolina

Spatial variability in the distribution of soil carbon is much greater in Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina, (fig. 15—STATSGO and fig. 16—SSURGO) than in Nicollet, Renville, Sibley Counties, Minnesota (fig. 13—STATSGO and fig. 14—SSURGO). As with Minnesota, the STATSGO-scale geographic patterns in SOC data linked to STATSGO map units are comparable to those patterns produced by linking SOC data to SSURGO map units. High-elevation peaks and ridges and the upstream portions of low-order watersheds have the greatest carbon storage (from 16 to 24 kg/m², STATSGO, fig. 15; from 24 to 32 kg/m², SSURGO, fig. 16*C*). Lower SOC storage values (from 4 to 6 kg/m²) generally are associated with low- to mid-elevation coves and valleys.

Differences between the STATSGO-based SOC map (fig. 15) and the SSURGO-based SOC map (fig. 16) relate primarily to elevation, slope, and aspect controls on temperature and



Figure 15. (*A*) Soil organic carbon (SOC) storage, depth interval from 0 to 100 centimeters, for mineral soils in Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina. Storage estimated by linking site-specific data to STATSGO map units. Data are for soils classed to the series level. (*B*) Area outlined in *A* showing greater SOC storage values for soils on a north-south-trending ridge, 2,800–6,684 feet (ft) (853–2,037 meters (m) altitude). (*C*) Area outlined in *A* showing SOC storage values for soils on mountain slopes (4,000–6,300 ft (1,219–1,920 m) altitude) between 8 and 24 kilograms per square meter (kg/m²).

moisture and to bedrock depth. Higher-elevation, north-tonortheast-facing slopes generally have greater SOC storage values (from 16 to 32 kg/m²) than do the south-to-southwestfacing slopes (from 4 to 16 kg/m²), as the northern aspect is cooler and wetter than the southern aspect. The difference in SOC storage with slope aspect is shown in detail in figure 16*B* (north-trending ridge of Mt. Mitchell) and 16*C* (high-elevation area, 4,000–6,300 ft, in northeastern Mitchell County).

Because of the way thin soils (depth <1 m) are dealt with when SOC storage is calculated, many of the high-elevation SSURGO map units are displayed white (no SOC data, fig. 16*B* and 16*C*). Although pedon data may be available for series locations with soil depths greater than 1 meter, for this exercise, if the area-weighted mean depth of the map unit is less than 75 cm (the midpoint of the 50 to 100 cm depth interval), then the 0 to 100 cm SOC value for that map unit is set to missing.

However, if the purpose of the storage/inventory calculation is soil-carbon accounting rather than comparison of calculation results based on different SOC data sources, then it is appropriate to include shallow soils in the accounting if the data are available for the entire soil profile (that is, from surface to bedrock). The difference in approach is shown for Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina (fig. 17), using site-specific SOC data linked to SSURGO map units. The ridgetop soils in the Mt. Mitchell area and along the northwestern border of both counties are not mapped if the shallow soils (depth to bedrock <75 cm) are excluded (fig. 17A). By comparison, when these soils are included (fig. 17B), the SOC storage for the Mt. Mitchell area varies from 10 to 16 kg/m², and SOC storage for the area along the northwestern border of both counties varies from 4 to 6 kg/m². The geographic distribution of shallow soils by mean depth to bedrock for Mitchell and



Figure 16. (*A*) Soil organic carbon (SOC) storage, depth interval from 0 to 100 centimeters, for mineral soils in Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina. Storage estimated by linking site-specific data to SSURGO map units. Data are for soils classed to the series level. (*B*) Area outlined in *A* showing greater SOC storage values for soils on north-facing slopes than for those on south-facing slopes; slopes have about 3,000 feet (ft) (900 meters (m)) relief. (*C*) Area outlined in *A* showing SOC storage values for mountain slopes (4,000–6,300 ft (1,219–1,920 m) altitude) from 16 to 32 kilograms per square meter (kg/m²).

Yancey Counties is shown in figure 18. If the SOC mapping to a depth of 1 meter is done based on STATSGO (fig. 18*A*), no map units are excluded. However, the SSURGO-based mapping excludes the areas shown in bright yellow (fig. 18*B*, depth to bedrock from 44 to 75 cm). Adding these shallow soils to the 1-meter inventory increases the total SOC inventory for Mitchell and Yancey Counties from 13.4 Tg to 14.4 Tg. Therefore, by difference, the shallow, high-elevation, ridgetop and upper slope soils in these two counties have an SOC inventory of approximately 1 Tg.

Most of the shallow, montane soils in Mitchell and Yancey Counties, as well as those developed in similar environmental settings in other geographic areas, are forest soils—an important terrestrial reservoir when considering carbon sequestration from a management perspective. Recent modeling efforts suggest that forest ecosystems are a significant terrestrial carbon sink in the northern hemisphere (Goodale and others, 2002).

Scientific studies of carbon cycling in terrestrial ecosystems will take a completely different approach to soil depth than that taken for development of calculation or accounting methods. Although arbitrary depth intervals certainly could be used in functional studies of carbon cycling, a horizon-based approach makes more sense since soil horizons develop in response to ecosystem function.

Factors Affecting SOC Estimation

Areawide estimates of SOC storage and inventory were calculated for the selected county areas in Colorado, Minnesota, Mississippi, and North Carolina (table 4) to provide a basis for examining the effects of different soil-carbon data Table 4. Soil organic carbon storage and inventory for the surface meter of mineral soil in selected county areas of the Mississippi River Basin

[USDA, U.S. Department of Agriculture; STATSGO, State Soil Geographic Database (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2001a); SSURGO, Soil Survey Geographic Database (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2001b); SOC, soil organic carbon; --, no data, sample sizes too small; kg/m², kilogram per square meter; Tg, teragram (10¹² grams, 10⁶ metric tons). Data linkage models—PDSG, pedon-to-STATSGO; SGSG, SR-to-STATSGO; PDSS, pedon-to-SSURGO; SSSS, MUIR-to-SSURGO]

Geographic area ¹	Data linkage model	Numbe STA SS1 map	r of USDA TSGO/ URGO i units	Percent of area,	Nur c soil s	nber of ieries	Number of pedons ⁴	(bas	SOC storage sed on indic percentile ⁵ , kg/m2)	ated	S (bas	OC inventor ed on indics ercentile ⁵ , T	y ated g)	Perc. repre (base	ent of ma area sented b ed on indi ercentile	p unit / data cated) ⁶
		soc+3	S0C-3	no-data map units	S0C+3	S0C-3		25th	50th	75th	25th	50th	75th	25th	50th	75th
	PDSG	33	7	15	70	80	379 (5)	6.0	6.8	8.0	64	73	85	44	76	91
Boulder, Larimer,	SGSG	33	7	18	55	89	63 (1)		7.3			78		20	43	70
and weld Counties, Colorado ²	PDSS	136	158	45	54	91	250 (5)	5.7	6.5	8.0	61	69	85	80	85	88
	SSSS	201	93	30	66	22	201 (2)		6.4			68		85	85	90
									6.8 (0.4)			72 (4.6)				
	PDSG	16	2	<	28	45	168 (11)	17	19	21	06	100	111	42	64	86
Nicollet, Renville,	SGSG	16	2	<1	50	21	57 (1)		24			128		53	61	72
and Sibley Counties, Minnesota	PDSS	105	98	27	20	53	135 (7)	19	20	22	76	106	115	65	85	100
	SSSS	165	38	15	63	5	153 (2)		26			134	I	85	06	100
									22 (3.3)			117 (16.5)				
	PDSG	9	0	0	14	0	193 (14)	5.0	6.7	9.5	7.8	11	15	100	100	100
Leflore County,	SGSG	9	0	0	5	6	7 (1)		5.6			8.9		25	35	61
Mississippi	PDSS	29	9	1	12	9	133 (11)	4.5	5.9	8.0	6.7	8.6	12	100	100	100
	SSSS	18	17	29	7	٢	16 (2)	I	6.5			9.6		100	100	100
									6.2 (0.5)			9.5 (1.1)				
	PDSG	14	0	0	19	19	54 (3)	8.3	9.4	11	12	13	14	61	LL	66
Mitchell and Yancey	SGSG	14	0	0	27	6	33 (1)	I	9.8			14		52	84	97
Counces, North Carolina	PDSS	114	34	15	32	21	169 (5)	9.4	12	13	13	16	18	50	80	90
	SSSS	124	24	11	4	5	78 (2)		13			18		80	85	95
									11 (1.7)			15 (2.2)				

See figures 1 and 12 for locations.

Includes only the eastern half of Boulder County, the eastern two-thirds of Larimer County, and the northern half of Weld County.

³SOC+, soil-carbon data available; SOC-, no soil-carbon data available.

"fotal number of pedon records for all of the soil series in the map area that have soil-carbon data. Mean number of pedons per series in parentheses.

Percentiles on which SOC storage and inventory estimates are based were computed from the sample distributions of pedons within the Mississippi River Basin (n = 7,321) grouped by soil series (n = 2,581).

area represented by components with series-level SOC data (1st-to-25th percentile range); 25 percent, from 65 to 85 percent of the map area represented (25th-to-50th percentile range); 25 percent, ^oFor example, in the Nicollet-Renville-Sibley County area in Minnesota, using the PDSS data linkage, 25 percent of the 105 map units with SOC data had less than 65 percent of the map-unit 85 to 100 percent (50th-to-75th percentile range); and 25 percent, 100 percent (75th-to-100th percentile range).



Figure 17. (*A*) Soil organic carbon (SOC) storage, depth interval from 0 to 100 centimeters, for mineral soils in Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina. Storage estimated by linking site-specific data to SSURGO map units. Data are for soils classed to the series level. No-data areas, shown in white, include map units for which there are no data or for which depth to bedrock is <75 cm. (*B*) Same as *A*, except that areas shown in white include only those map units for which there are no data. Carbon storage for shallow soils (depth to bedrock <75 cm) is mapped in *B* as long as there are SOC data available for the entire soil profile from the surface to bedrock. If the primary purpose of the SOC inventory is soil-carbon accounting rather than comparison of SOC data sources, *B* presents a more appropriate scenario.

sources, different map scales, and scale-related differences in map-unit taxonomy. Nicollet, Renville, and Sibley Counties, Minnesota, have the greatest areawide SOC storage, with values ranging from 19 kg/m² (PDSG linkage model) to 26 kg/m² (SSSS linkage model) and a mean storage (± 1 standard deviation, based on four linkage models) of 22 ± 3.3 kg/m²; followed by Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina mean storage, 11 ± 1.7 kg/m²; Boulder, Larimer, and Weld Counties, Colorado—6.8 ± 0.4 kg/m²; and Leflore County, Mississippi—6.2 ± 0.5 kg/m² (table 4). For these areas, there is no systematic bias in which linkage model gives the highest or lowest estimate of SOC storage.

Several measures of "data completeness" were chosen to help quantify the differences in SOC estimates by data linkage model: (1) the number of STATSGO/SSURGO map units with and without SOC data, (2) percent of area represented by map units without SOC data, (3) the number of soil series with and without SOC data, (4) the number of pedons or pseudo pedons contributed to the map by each data linkage, and (5) the percent of map-unit area represented by data. The range of estimates for each geographic area and the errors associated with each estimate are functions of these factors, all of which deal with different aspects of data availability (that is, map-unit representation by data, soil-series representation by data, and scale-related differences in map-unit taxonomy).

All but 4 of the 16 linkage models (PDSG and SGSG for Mississippi and North Carolina) resulted in some number of map units for which no component-level soil-carbon data were available. In other words, there are no available site-specific pedon data for any of the component series in the map unit or there are no available STATSGO/SSURGO layer data or both. As stated earlier in Methods section, the error in estimates of



Figure 18. Component area-weighted mean depth to bedrock for (*A*) STATSGO and (*B*) SSURGO map units, Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina.

SOC inventory for areas with no-data map units varies with the amount of unmapped area and with how representative the mapped area is of the unmapped area. The greater the number of no-data map units and/or the larger the unmapped area, the greater the potential error. In general, both the number of no-data map units and the percentage of unmapped area were greater for SSURGO linkages than for STATSGO linkages.

This trend does not infer that STATSGO-based estimates of inventory for the Colorado area (table 4), for example, are better or more accurate than SSURGO-based estimates. If pedon data are linked to STATSGO, 15 percent of the area (represented by 7 of 41 map units) is unmapped, whereas, if these same data are linked to SSURGO, 45 percent of this same area (represented by 158 of 294 map units) is unmapped. However, greater geographic coverage with STATSGO may be more than offset by the greater local-scale accuracy of SSURGO. SSURGO map units have a maximum of three component soil series and, in many cases, relate directly to single series, as contrasted with STATSGO map units, which can have a maximum of 21 component soil series. Depending on the availability and representativeness of data for component series, STATSGO map units have a larger potential variance in estimates of map-unit properties than do SSURGO map units.

The number of soil series without available soil-carbon data and the number of pedons or pseudo pedons per series affect the accuracy of an SOC map at the component level rather than the map-unit level. Major geographic components with missing soil-carbon data, for example, generally will have a much greater effect on map accuracy than will minor components with missing data. Larger numbers of pedons per series tend to increase map accuracy, provided these pedons represent the series-level spatial variability in soil carbon. In many cases, the no-data soil series outnumber those with soil-carbon data. However, the generally low percentage of unmapped area and high percentage of map-unit area represented by data both suggest that major map-unit components are well represented. For example, with the PDSG linkage for Colorado, 80 of 150 series in the map area have no available data, but the geographic extent covered by no-data map units is only 15 percent, and the median map-unit area represented by data is 76 percent (table 4).

Suitability of Soil-Carbon Data for SOC Assessment

The suitability of soil-carbon data for SOC geographic studies is largely defined by the answers to questions about the map scale and size of the study area, the geographic and temporal extent of the data, and soil taxonomy. Is the area of interest a small watershed, a county, or a large river basin? Pedon data used in carbon-mapping studies should be sufficient to describe the variability in soil carbon at the appropriate scale. Are the locations of pedon sampling sites well distributed across the landscape? Do these locations provide a spatially representative sampling of the landscape? How are the pedon data distributed through time? If there have been major decadal-scale changes in land use and most of the pedon data were collected before or after a major land-use change, how suitable are these data for regional assessment? Are changes in carbon storage occurring during the time period represented by the data? Ideally, the data set used for mapping should provide a consistent temporal snapshot; in actuality, few data sets achieve this goal. Are the pedon data keyed to soil series or only to a higher taxonomic level? The soil series is the most direct link to STATSGO and SSURGO. If serieslevel taxonomy is not available, then the data linkage must be at a higher taxonomic level-family, subgroup, great group, suborder, or, most generally, at the soil-order level. Some of these topics are discussed in the following sections.

Map Scale

Soil-attribute mapping using digital base maps such as STATSGO or SSURGO as a georeference can benefit from the use of scale-appropriate data. The STATSGO-based and SSURGO-based maps used in this report were produced by using the same site-specific data for soil carbon linked by series. Therefore, the differences between STATSGO and SSURGO soil-carbon maps of the same geographic area primarily are a function of the taxonomic differences between the two databases. However, there are inherent scales to the aggregate attribute data provided with STATSGO and SSURGO. Both the SIR and MUIR databases have built-in regional variability in soil-series properties (primarily based on slope) that accounts for differences in soil properties associated with erosional versus depositional landscape environments. Attribute values affected by this erosion/deposition split include those for soil carbon.

A model that incorporates regional variation in the environmental factors affecting series-level soil-carbon content could be developed for the S3C database. Variables that describe differences in landscape position, vegetation, and land-use history for land areas having the same soil series could be linked in the STATSGO/SSURGO data model and then used as "intra-series" or "subseries" links to the map units. In other words, instead of linking soil-carbon data to map-unit components at the soil-series level, separate data linkages based on these differences could be established for the same series. It is expected that the carbon content of soils in the same series will vary with the degree and type of land disturbance as well as with land-use history. An eroded Memphis silt loam under cultivation, for example, will likely have less carbon than an undisturbed Memphis silt loam under native hardwood cover. Similarly, a cultivated Sharkey clay probably will have less carbon than a Sharkey clay under native bottomland hardwood forest cover. Using this approach with site-specific soil-carbon data is problematic, however, because much of the desired ancillary data may not be available. Further subsetting of pedon data grouped by soil series will reduce sample sizes that, in many cases, already are too small to be representative of the series.

Geographic and Temporal Coverage

The pedon data used to populate STATSGO or SSURGO should be spatially distributed throughout the geographic area being mapped and provide a temporal snapshot of the landscape. A spatially representative set of samples for a particular series should provide a sample data set that proportionally describes the soil-carbon content of that series. Ideally, if 10 percent of the landscape occupied by Monona silt loam in western Iowa is native tallgrass prairie on slopes, then 10 percent of the Monona pedon samples should have been collected in this setting. The median carbon value for the "native prairie" subsample would then be linked to the Monona components of STATSGO or SSURGO map units in this environmental setting. In practice, there probably are no series with sufficient representative pedon data to allow subsampling across environmental settings. In this study, no subsampling was done because of the small series-level sample sizes-as mentioned earlier, only 5 percent of the series in the S3C database are represented by 10 or more pedons.

Temporal changes in soil-carbon content resulting from land disturbance and variation in climate and vegetation can be a large source of error in estimates of storage and inventory. If these estimates are based on a data set with a long time span, it is possible that regional differences in mapped carbon storage could be comparable to decadal-scale gains or losses in soil carbon within a region (Odell and others, 1984). The S3C database assembled for this study spans 96 years (1900–95) with 98 percent of the data collected post-1950 and 63 percent collected post-1980. Time spans for individual series range from 1 year to 68 years. For the series represented by one pedon (46 percent of the series in the database), sampling years span the entire 95-year period-thus soil series occurring within the same map unit could have been characterized many years apart. Landscape alterations due to intensive agriculture or severe erosion can result in large soil-carbon losses (Mann, 1986; Post and Kwon, 2000; Post and others, 2001). If these changes occurred for a series that was sampled predisturbance, SOC storage would be overestimated for map units with that series as a major component.

Soil Taxonomy

STATSGO and SSURGO are taxonomic databases; therefore, the most direct linkage of soil-attribute data to the map units is taxonomic. Although the data linkage used in this study is at soil-series level, it is not clear that a low-level linkage is the most appropriate for mapping soil carbon. Linkages at higher taxonomic levels—such as family, subgroup, or great group, in combination with subsetting based on regional variation in geomorphology, vegetation, and climate—need to be tested and evaluated. One benefit to this approach would be larger sample sizes and potentially better statistical characterization of the soil with regard to carbon content. Larger map-unit coverage could also result from data linkage at a higher taxonomic level if, for example, the pedon data were classed to represent a family or a subgroup. Series not represented in the pedon database likely would be represented at the family or subgroup level.

Pedon data linked to STATSGO or SSURGO at a higher taxonomic level than soil series will be intrinsically classified by some of the variables that control soil-carbon sequestration, as many of the identifiers used at the family, subgroup, and great group levels relate to soil temperature, moisture, texture, and mineralogy (Soil Survey Staff, 1998, 1999). Additional classification based on landscape position, geomorphic setting, and current vegetation can provide further "process-based" grouping of site-specific soil-carbon data prior to mapping.

Even at the most general taxonomic level of soil order, soils are somewhat grouped along environmental gradients that relate to soil carbon. Mollisols are the predominant soils in Nicollet, Renville, and Sibley Counties, Minnesota (fig. 19A and 19B), with Alfisols, Entisols, and Inceptisols occurring along the Minnesota River and along the downstream reaches of its larger tributaries. Histosols (not mapped in this study) occur in small isolated pockets coincident with the depressional wetlands in the upland areas. Soils in Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina (fig. 19C and 19D), are predominantly Inceptisols on the ridges and upper slopes, Entisols along isolated smaller drainageways, and Ultisols on the lower slopes and larger drainageways. In Minnesota, mineral soils with the highest carbon content are the Mollisols (from 16 to 52 kg/m² SOC) (fig. 14A and 14C). Alfisols, Entisols, and Inceptisols developed in alluvium along the Minnesota River generally have carbon contents lower than the Mollisols. In North Carolina, the highest carbon soils are the Inceptisols on the ridges and upper slopes (from 10 to 32 kg/m² SOC) (fig. 16A-16C). Lower SOC values are associated with Ultisols in the valleys (from 4 to 10 kg/m^2) (fig. 16A). However, the highest SOC values for Inceptisols in North Carolina are intermediate when ranked on a storage continuum from Mollisols to Ultisols.

Conclusions

Terrestrial carbon sequestration can contribute as an offset to the anthropogenic increase in atmospheric CO_2 . Decisions about managing land use for carbon sequestration can

benefit from an understanding of the controls on the processing and distribution of terrestrial carbon. One approach toward this understanding is the development of a carbon inventory based on accurate estimates of carbon storage. Because the soils are the largest and most stable long-term reservoir for terrestrial carbon, an accurate SOC inventory is a necessary baseline for measuring net changes in terrestrial carbon stocks.

GIS-based approaches to mapping soil carbon provide readily available methods for linking pedon-based SOC data to digital soil maps such as the USDA STATSGO and SSURGO databases. A direct link between the pedon data and the STATSGO or SSURGO map units allows one to regionalize limited quantities of pedon data in a manner consistent with results that could be obtained if systematic and regionally representative soil sampling was undertaken. Because the data linkage is based on soil taxonomy, many of the environmental controls on soil carbon are embedded in the linkage.

One of the strengths in the pedon-based approach to SOC mapping with STATSGO or SSURGO as the geographic base is the potentially large quantity of data that can be assembled for the task. The S3C database used in this study is comprised of several sources of data—the USDA-NRCS NSSC laboratory characterization database and extensive State databases for Arkansas, Illinois, and Louisiana. Several other large regional databases are currently being processed and standardized so they can be added to S3C, which will increase both the number of soil series represented by pedon data and the number of pedons per series. If sufficient pedon data are available for accurate characterization of the component series in the map area, then a more accurate soil-carbon map can be generated.

The linkage of pedon data to STATSGO and SSURGO provides a distinct advantage over the direct use of the STATSGO and SSURGO attribute data (SIR and MUIR databases) in producing an SOC map. The SIR/MUIR databases underepresent the series-level spatial variability in soil properties that may occur both geographically and with depth in the soil profile. Whereas a SIR/MUIR-based SOC map might be adequate for input to a global-scale model, a pedon-based SOC map can provide the regional detail required for local assessments and regional studies that relate SOC dynamics to climate, land use, and vegetation.

Weaknesses in both the pedon-based and SIR/MUIRbased approaches to mapping soil carbon include data deficiencies both at the sample level (missing data for pedon horizons or pseudo-pedon layers) and at the soil-series level (missing data for map-unit components). The most serious sample deficiencies are the lack of bulk-density data and the errors associated with accurate measurement of bulk density. Potential errors in SOC storage and inventory estimates resulting from inaccurate estimation or measurement of bulk density can be quite large. Variation in the total depth to which pedons are sampled, described, and characterized also contributes to sample-level error by reducing the number of pedons available for a given standard depth. At present, the S3C database contains 7,950 SOC values for the standard interval from 0 to 10 cm, 7,887 for 0 to 20, 7,697 for 0 to 50, and 7,321 for 0 to



Figure 19. Geographic extent of soil orders based on SSURGO taxonomy. *A* and *B*, Nicollet, Renville, and Sibley Counties, Minnesota; *B* is area outlined in *A*. *C* and *D*, Mitchell and Yancey Counties, North Carolina; *D* is area outlined in *C*.

A42 Soil-Carbon Storage and Inventory for the Continental United States

100. Therefore, an SOC map for the surface meter of mineral soil in the MRB is based on 629 fewer pedons than a map for the surface 10 centimeters would be, an 8 percent loss of data. Series-level deficiencies include variable representation of soil series by pedon data and a complete lack of data for many series. In some cases, a series may be well characterized in some environmental settings but not in others. The Memphis silt loam and Sharkey clay were used as examples of this problem in earlier discussion. The cultivated settings for these series are relatively well characterized, whereas the native woodland settings are not. Data deficiencies for samples and soil series produce map-unit data gaps that can result in a reduction in either the number of map-unit components or the number of entire map units represented by data.

The suitability of existing pedon-data sources for SOC geographic studies is largely defined by the geographic and temporal extent of the data. Ideally, all of the soil series in the STATSGO/SSURGO map units should be represented by a sufficient number of pedons to characterize the carbon content of each series across all environmental settings. This endmember is a worthy goal of a soil-sampling network that could be designed and implemented to collect the data required for consistent long-term assessment. The pedon data used in such assessments should be sufficient to describe the variation in soil carbon at the appropriate scale and provide a temporal snapshot of storage and inventory. For those areas not mapped to series, or where pedons are not keyed to series, linkages of pedon data to STATSGO/SSURGO at higher taxonomic levels than the soil series should be explored, in combination with subsetting based on geomorphology, vegetation, and climate.

References Cited

- Adams, J.M., Faure, H., Faure-Denard L., McGlade, J.M., and Woodward, F.I., 1990, Increases in terrestrial carbon storage from the Last Glacial Maximum to the present: Nature, v. 348, p. 711–714.
- Alexander, T.G., and Robertson, J.S., 1970, Ascorbic acid as a reductant for inorganic phosphorus determination in Chang and Jackson fractionation procedure: Soil Science, v. 110, p. 361–362.
- Allison, L.E., 1965, Organic carbon, *in* Black, C.A., ed., Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 2: American Society of Agronomy, Monograph Series no. 9, p. 1367–1378.
- Bachman, G.O., and Machette, M.N., 1977, Calcic soils and calcretes in the Southwestern United States: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 77–794, 163 p.
- Bailey, R.G., 1995, Description of the ecoregions of the United States: Accessed May 20, 2002, at URL http: //www.fs.fed.us/land/ecosysmgmt/ecoreg1_home.html.

Bailey, R.G., and Cushwa, C.T., 1981, Ecoregions of North America: Washington, D.C., U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, FWS/OBS-81/29, map scale 1:12,000,000.

- Bengtsson, L., and Enell, M., 1986, Chemical analysis, *in* Berglund, B.E., ed., Handbook of Holocene paleoecology and paleohydrology: New York, John Wiley and Sons, p. 423–451.
- Blake, G.R., 1965, Bulk density, *in* Black, C.A., ed., Methods of soil analysis, Part 1: American Society of Agronomy, Monograph Series no. 9, p. 374–390.
- Blecker, S.W., Yonker, C.M., Olson, C.G., and Kelly, E.F., 1997, Paleopedologic and geomorphic evidence for Holocene climate variation, short grass steppe, Colorado, USA: Geoderma, v. 76, p. 113–130.
- Bliss, N.B., Waltman, S.W., and Petersen, G.W., 1995, Preparing a soil carbon inventory for the United States using geographic information systems, Chapter 23, *in* Lal, R., Kimble, J., Levine, E., and Stewart, B.A., eds., Soils and global change—Advances in soil science: Chelsea, Mich., Lewis Publishers, 440 p.
- Bowman, Rudy, and Petersen, Mike, 1996, Soil organic matter levels in the Central Great Plains: U.S. Department of Agriculture Conservation Tillage Fact Sheet #1-96: Accessed January 29, 2002, at URL http://www.akron.ars.usda.gov/ fs_soil.html.
- Day, P.R., 1965, Particle fractionation and particle-size analysis, *in* Black, C.A., ed., Methods of soil analysis, Part 1: American Society of Agronomy, Monograph Series no. 9, p. 545–567.
- Eswaran, H., Van Den Berg, E., and Reich, P., 1993, Organic carbon in soils of the world: Soil Science Society of America Journal, v. 57, p. 192–194.
- Fenneman, N.M., 1931, Physiography of Western United States: New York and London, McGraw-Hill Book Company, 534 p.
- Fenneman, N.M., 1938, Physiography of Eastern United States: New York and London, McGraw-Hill Book Company, 714 p.
- Goodale, C.L., Apps, M.J., Birdsey, R.A., Field, C.B., Heath, L.S., Houghton, R.A., Jenkins, J.C., Kohlmaier, G.H., Kurz, Werner, Liu, Shirong, Nabuurs, Gert-Jan, Nilsson, Sten, and Shvidenko, A.Z., 2002, Forest carbon sinks in the northern hemisphere: Ecological Applications, v. 12, p. 891–899.
- Helsel, D.R., and Hirsch, R.M., 1992, Statistical methods in water resources—Studies in environmental science 49: New York, Elsevier, 522 p.

- IPCC [Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change], 1995, Climate change 1995: The science of climate change, *in* Houghton, J.T., Meira Filho, L.G., Callender, B.A., Harris, N., Kattenberg, A., and Maskell, K., eds., Second Assessment of the IPCC: Cambridge, U.K., Cambridge University Press, 572 p.
- IPCC, 2001, Climate change 2001: The scientific basis, *in* Houghton, J.T., Ding, Y., Griggs, D.J., Noguer, M., van der Linden, P.J., Dai, X., Maskell, K., and Johnson, C.A., eds., Third Assessment Report of the IPCC: Cambridge, U.K., Cambridge University Press, 892 p.
- Jobbágy, E.G., and Jackson, R.B., 2000, The vertical distribution of soil organic carbon and its relation to climate and vegetation: Ecological Applications, v. 10, p. 423–436.
- Kansas State University, 2002, Konza Prairie Soils (kzgis006): Konza Prairie Biological Station, Long Term Ecological Research Program: Accessed January 29, 2002, at URL http://climate.konza.ksu.edu/.
- Mann, L.K., 1986, Changes in soil carbon storage after cultivation: Soil Science, v. 142, p. 279–288.
- Odell, R.T., Melsted, S.W., and Walker, W.M., 1984, Changes in organic carbon and nitrogen of Morrow plot soils, 1904–1973: Soil Science, v. 137, p. 160–171.
- Parker, J.L., Decker, G.L., Gray, L., and Muller, O., 1975, Soil survey of Carbon County area, Montana: U.S. Department of Agriculture, 137 p.
- Pettry, D.E., and Switzer R.E., 1999, Sharkey soils in Mississippi: Mississippi Agricultural and Forestry Experiment Station Bulletin No.1057, Mississippi State University: Accessed April 14, 1999, at URL http://mafes.msstate.edu/ pubs/b1057.htm (currently http://msucares.com/pubs/ bulletins/b1057.htm).
- Post, W.M., Izaurralde, R.C., Mann, L.K., and Bliss, Norman, 2001, Monitoring and verifying changes of organic carbon in soil: Climatic Change, v. 51, p. 73–99.
- Post, W.M., and Kwon, K.C., 2000, Soil carbon sequestration and land-use change: Processes and potential: Global Change Biology, v. 6, p. 317–328.
- Reheis, M.C., 1987, Soils in granitic alluvium in humid and semiarid climates along Rock Creek, Carbon County, Montana: U.S. Geological Survey Bulletin 1590–D, 71 p.
- Schoeneberger, P.J., Wysocki, D.A., Benham, E.C., and Broderson, W.D., 1998, Field book for describing and sampling soils: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, National Soil Survey Center, Lincoln, Nebr., 177 p.

- Schumacher, B.A., Day, W.J., Amacher, M.C., and Miller, B.J., 1988, Soils of the Mississippi River alluvial plain in Louisiana: Louisiana Agricultural Experiment Station Bulletin No. 796, Louisiana State University Agricultural Center, 275 p.
- Seaber, P.R., Kapinos, F.P., and Knapp, G.L., 1994, Hydrologic unit maps: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 2294, 63 p.
- Soil Survey Staff, 1951, Soil survey manual: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service, Agriculture Handbook 18, 503 p.
- Soil Survey Staff, 1962, Identification and nomenclature of soil horizons in Soil survey manual: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service, supplement to Agriculture Handbook 18, p. 173–188.
- Soil Survey Staff, 1975, Soil taxonomy, a basic system of soil classification for making and interpreting soil surveys: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service, Agriculture Handbook no. 436, 754 p.
- Soil Survey Staff, 1986, National soil taxonomy handbook 430–VI, issue no. 8: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service, 55 p.
- Soil Survey Staff, 1993, Soil survey manual, 2d ed.: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, National Soil Survey Center, Soil Survey Laboratory, Lincoln, Nebr., Agriculture Handbook 18, 410 p.
- Soil Survey Staff, 1995, Soil Survey laboratory information manual: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, National Soil Survey Center, Soil Survey Laboratory, Lincoln, Nebr., Soil Survey Investigations Report no. 45, version 1.0, 305 p.
- Soil Survey Staff, 1996, Soil survey laboratory methods manual: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, National Soil Survey Center, Soil Survey Laboratory, Lincoln, Nebr., Soil Survey Investigations Report no. 42, version 3.0, 693 p.
- Soil Survey Staff, 1998, Keys to soil taxonomy, 8th ed.: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, 326 p.
- Soil Survey Staff, 1999, Soil taxonomy, a basic system of soil classification for making and interpreting soil surveys, 2d ed.: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, Agriculture Handbook no. 436, 870 p.
- Soil Survey Staff, 2002, Official soil series descriptions: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, National Soil Survey Center, Lincoln, Nebr. Accessed January 16, 2002, at URL http://soils.usda.gov/ soils/technical/classification/osd/index.html.

A44 Soil-Carbon Storage and Inventory for the Continental United States

- U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, 1994, State Soil Geographic (STATSGO) Data Base—Data use information: Miscellaneous Publication 1492, 39 p.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, 1995, Soil Survey Geographic (SSURGO) Database—Data use information: Miscellaneous Publication 1527, 31 p.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, 1996, Soil Survey Laboratory Methods Manual: Soil Survey Investigations Report no. 42, version 3.0, 716 p.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, 2001a, State Soil Geographic (STATSGO) Database: Accessed September 1, 2001, at URL http: //www.ftw.nrcs.usda.gov/stat_data.html (currently http: //www.ncgc.nrcs.usda.gov/branch/ssb/products/statsgo/ index.html).

- U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, 2001b, Soil Survey Geographic (SSURGO) Database: Accessed September 1, 2001, at URL http: //www.ftw.nrcs.usda.gov/ssur_data.html. (currently http: //www.ncgc.nrcs.usda.gov/branch/ssb/products/ssurgo/ index.html).
- U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, 2001c, Map Unit Interpretations Record (MUIR) Database: Accessed September 1, 2001, at URL http://www.statlab.iastate.edu/soils/muir/ (currently http: //soils.usda.gov/survey/nmuir/index.html).
- U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, 2001d, National Soil Characterization Database: Accessed September 1, 2001, at URL http: //ssldata.nrcs.usda.gov/.
- University of Illinois, 2001, Soil Characterization Laboratory Database: Accessed February 15, 2001, at URL http: //www.il.nrcs.usda.gov/soils/soil-lab.htm (currently http: //www.il.ncgc.nrcs.usda.gov/technical/soils/soil_lab.html).

A46 Soil-Carbon Storage and Inventory for the Continental United States